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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements

See “Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements” set forth on Page F-1.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report, and such 
Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P.
By: PAA GP HOLDINGS LLC,

its general partner

By: /s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Greg L. Armstrong,
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 25, 2016
By: /s/ Al Swanson

Al Swanson,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of PAA GP Holdings LLC
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 25, 2016
By: /s/ Chris Herbold

Chris Herbold,
Vice President—Accounting and Chief Accounting Officer 
of PAA GP Holdings LLC
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 25, 2016
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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February 25, 2016
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/s/ Al Swanson Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
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Victor Burk
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/s/ Everardo Goyanes Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 25, 2016
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Plains GP Holdings, L.P.’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that 
involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal 
control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, 
there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial 
reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design 
into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) to evaluate the effectiveness of the 
Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the Partnership’s 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.

The effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on Page F-3.
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Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director of 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of the General Partner and Shareholders of
Plains GP Holdings, L.P.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive 
income, of changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), of changes in partners’ capital, and of cash flows present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Partnership 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). The Partnership’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the 
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these 
financial statements and on the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits (which were integrated 
audits in 2015 and 2014). We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
February 25, 2016
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except share data)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31, December 31,
2015 2014

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 30 $ 404
Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net 1,785 2,615
Inventory 916 891
Other current assets 241 271

Total current assets 2,972 4,181

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 15,695 14,219
Accumulated depreciation (2,202) (1,927)

Property and equipment, net 13,493 12,292

OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill 2,405 2,465
Investments in unconsolidated entities 2,027 1,735
Deferred tax asset 1,835 1,705
Linefill and base gas 898 930
Long-term inventory 129 186
Other long-term assets, net 383 429

Total assets $ 24,142 $ 23,923

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,040 $ 2,987
Short-term debt 999 1,287
Other current liabilities 370 482

Total current liabilities 3,409 4,756

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Senior notes, net of unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs 9,698 8,699
Other long-term debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs 1,234 539
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits 567 548

Total long-term liabilities 11,499 9,786

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 16)

PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
Class A Shareholders (229,278,980 and 206,933,274 shares outstanding, respectively) 1,762 1,657
Class B Shareholders (376,771,593 and 399,096,499 shares outstanding, respectively) — —
Noncontrolling interests 7,472 7,724

Total partners’ capital 9,234 9,381
Total liabilities and partners’ capital $ 24,142 $ 23,923
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in millions, except per share data)

For the 2013 period, basic and diluted net income per Class A share were calculated based on net income attributable to 
PAGP for the period following the closing of our initial public offering on October 21, 2013 and basic weighted average  
Class A shares outstanding weighted for the same period. See Note 3, “Net Income Per Class A Share”.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

REVENUES
Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ 21,927 $ 42,114 $ 40,692
Transportation segment revenues 697 774 701
Facilities segment revenues 528 576 856

Total revenues 23,152 43,464 42,249

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Purchases and related costs 19,726 39,500 38,465
Field operating costs 1,454 1,456 1,322
General and administrative expenses 281 331 360
Depreciation and amortization 433 386 368

Total costs and expenses 21,894 41,673 40,515

OPERATING INCOME 1,258 1,791 1,734

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities 183 108 64
Interest expense (net of capitalized interest of $57, $48 and $38, respectively) (443) (357) (319)
Other income/(expense), net (7) (2) 1

INCOME BEFORE TAX 991 1,540 1,480
Current income tax expense (84) (71) (100)
Deferred income tax expense (98) (141) (6)

NET INCOME 809 1,328 1,374
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (691) (1,258) (1,359)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO PAGP $ 118 $ 70 $ 15

BASIC NET INCOME PER CLASS A SHARE $ 0.53 $ 0.48 $ 0.10

DILUTED NET INCOME PER CLASS A SHARE $ 0.53 $ 0.47 $ 0.10

BASIC WEIGHTED AVERAGE CLASS A SHARES OUTSTANDING 222 145 132

DILUTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE CLASS A SHARES 
OUTSTANDING 222 650 132

(1)

(1)

(1)
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net income $ 809 $ 1,328 $ 1,374
Other comprehensive loss (614) (370) (176)
Comprehensive income 195 958 1,198

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (82) (890) (1,183)
Comprehensive income attributable to PAGP $ 113 $ 68 $ 15

Derivative Translation
Instruments Adjustments Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ (121) $ 200 $ 79

Reclassification adjustments (66) — (66)
Deferred gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax 110 — 110
Currency translation adjustments — (220) (220)

2013 Activity 44 (220) (176)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (77) $ (20) $ (97)

Reclassification adjustments 4 — 4
Deferred loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax (86) — (86)
Currency translation adjustments — (288) (288)

2014 Activity (82) (288) (370)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ (159) $ (308) $ (467)

Reclassification adjustments (45) — (45)
Deferred gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax 1 — 1
Currency translation adjustments — (570) (570)

2015 Activity (44) (570) (614)
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ (203) $ (878) $ (1,081)
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 809 $ 1,328 $ 1,374
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 433 386 368
Equity-indexed compensation expense 27 99 116
Inventory valuation adjustments 117 289 7
Deferred income tax expense 98 141 6
Settlement of terminated interest rate hedging instruments (48) (7) 8
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities (183) (108) (64)
Distributions from unconsolidated entities 214 105 54
Other (20) 24 6

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Trade accounts receivable and other 803 1,177 (185)
Inventory (90) (129) 134
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (827) (1,317) 124

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,333 1,988 1,948

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 7) (105) (1,098) (28)
Investments in unconsolidated entities (Note 7) (253) (158) (133)
Additions to property, equipment and other (2,079) (1,932) (1,613)
Cash paid for purchases of linefill and base gas (133) (161) (122)
Proceeds from sales of assets 5 28 200
Other investing activities 35 25 43

Net cash used in investing activities (2,530) (3,296) (1,653)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings/(repayments) under PAA senior secured hedged inventory 

facility (Note 9) 300 — (660)
Net repayments under PAA senior unsecured revolving credit facility (Note 

9) — — (92)
Net repayments under PNG credit agreement — — (382)
Net borrowings/(repayments) under PAA commercial paper program (Note 9) 631 (366) 1,110
Net borrowings/(repayments) under AAP senior secured revolving credit 

facility (Note 9) (27) 21 15
Proceeds from AAP term loan (Note 9) 50 — 300
Proceeds from the issuance of PAA senior notes (Note 9) 998 2,595 699
Repayments of PAA senior notes (Note 9) (549) — (250)
Net proceeds from the sale of common units by subsidiaries (Note 10) 1,099 848 505
Contributions from noncontrolling interests related to the sale of common 

units by subsidiaries — — 10
Proceeds received from initial public offering (Note 10) — — 2,825
Distribution of proceeds received from initial public offering (Note 10) — — (2,825)
Distributions paid to Class A shareholders (Note 10) (195) (91) —
Distributions paid to members (Note 10) — — (6)
Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests (Note 10) (1,465) (1,305) (1,494)
Other financing activities (15) (30) (29)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 827 1,672 (274)

Effect of translation adjustment on cash (4) (3) (3)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (374) 361 18
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 404 43 25
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 30 $ 404 $ 43

Cash paid for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 405 $ 344 $ 312
Income taxes, net of amounts refunded $ 50 $ 159 $ 37
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ CAPITAL/MEMBERS’ EQUITY

(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Members’ Equity Total
(Excluding Partners’ Capital Partners’

Noncontrolling (Excluding Noncontrolling Interests) Noncontrolling Capital/
Interests) Class A Class B Interests Members’ Equity

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — $ — $ — $ 6,968 $ 6,968
Net income 3 12 — 1,359 1,374
Distributions (6) — — (1,494) (1,500)
Transfer of ownership interest in 

connection with reorganization 
prior to initial public offering 
(Note 10) 3 (51) — 48 —

Issuance of Class A shares to the 
public, net of 
offering and other costs (Note 
10) — 2,825 — — 2,825

Distribution of net proceeds of 
initial public offering 
(Note 10) (2,825) — — (2,825)

Deferred tax asset (Note 12) — 1,076 — — 1,076
Change in ownership interest in 

connection with 
Exchange Right exercises 
(Note 10) (1) 1 —

Sale of common units by 
subsidiaries — — — 508 508

Other comprehensive loss — — — (176) (176)
Other — (1) — 30 29

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ — $ 1,035 $ — $ 7,244 $ 8,279
Net income — 70 — 1,258 1,328
Distributions — (91) — (1,305) (1,396)
Deferred tax asset (Note 12) — 675 — — 675
Change in ownership interest in 

connection with 
Exchange Right exercises 
(Note 10) — (31) — 31 —

Sale of common units by 
subsidiaries — — — 848 848

Other comprehensive loss — (2) — (368) (370)
Other — 1 — 16 17

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ — $ 1,657 $ — $ 7,724 $ 9,381
Net income — 118 — 691 809
Distributions — (195) — (1,465) (1,660)
Deferred tax asset (Note 12) — 205 — — 205
Change in ownership interest in 

connection with 
Exchange Right exercises 
(Note 10) — (6) — 6 —

Sale of common units by 
subsidiaries — — — 1,099 1,099

Other comprehensive loss — (5) — (609) (614)
Other — (12) — 26 14

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ — $ 1,762 $ — $ 7,472 $ 9,234
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PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Organization and Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

Organization

Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (“PAGP”) is a Delaware limited partnership formed on July 17, 2013 to own an interest in the 
general partner and incentive distribution rights (“IDRs”) of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (“PAA”), a publicly traded Delaware 
limited partnership. PAGP has elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As used in this Form 10-K 
and unless the context indicates otherwise (taking into account the fact that PAGP has no operating activities apart from those 
conducted by PAA and its subsidiaries), the terms “Partnership,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “ours” and similar terms refer to PAGP and its 
subsidiaries.

We completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) on October 21, 2013. As of December 31, 2015, our sole assets consisted of 
(i) a 100% managing member interest in Plains All American GP LLC (“GP LLC”) and (ii) an approximate 38% limited partner 
interest in Plains AAP, L.P. (“AAP”) through our ownership of 229,278,980 Class A units of AAP (“AAP units”). See Note 10 for 
additional discussion of our IPO and transactions involving our ownership interests in AAP and GP LLC. GP LLC is a Delaware 
limited liability company that holds the general partner interest in AAP. AAP is a Delaware limited partnership that directly owns all 
of PAA’s IDRs and indirectly owns the 2% general partner interest in PAA. AAP is the sole member of PAA GP LLC (“PAA GP”), a 
Delaware limited liability company that directly holds the 2% general partner interest in PAA. Plains GP Holdings LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, is our general partner.

GP LLC manages the business and affairs of PAA and AAP. Except for certain matters relating to PAA that require the 
approval of the limited partners of PAA, and certain matters relating to AAP that require the approval of the limited partners of AAP 
or of us as the sole member of GP LLC, either pursuant to the governing documents of PAA, AAP or GP LLC, or as may be required 
by non-waivable provisions of applicable law, GP LLC has full and complete authority, power and discretion to manage and control 
the business, affairs and property of PAA and AAP, to make all decisions regarding those matters and to perform any and all other 
acts or activities customary or incident to the management of PAA and AAP’s business, including the execution of contracts and 
management of litigation. GP LLC employs all domestic officers and personnel involved in the operation and management of PAA 
and AAP.  PAA’s Canadian officers and personnel are employed by Plains Midstream Canada ULC (“PMC”).

PAA is a publicly traded master limited partnership that owns and operates midstream energy infrastructure and provides 
logistics services for crude oil, natural gas liquids (“NGL”), natural gas and refined products. PAA owns an extensive network of 
pipeline transportation, terminalling, storage and gathering assets in key crude oil and NGL producing basins and transportation 
corridors and at major market hubs in the United States and Canada. Our business activities are conducted through three operating 
segments: Transportation, Facilities and Supply and Logistics. See Note 18 for further discussion of our operating segments.

Definitions

Additional defined terms are used in the following notes and shall have the meanings indicated below:

F-9

AOCI = Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Bcf = Billion cubic feet
Btu = British thermal unit
CAD = Canadian dollar
CERCLA = Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended
DERs = Distribution equivalent rights
EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
EPA = United States Environmental Protection Agency
FASB = Financial Accounting Standards Board
GAAP = Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
ICE = Intercontinental Exchange
IDR = Incentive distribution right
IPO = Initial public offering
LTIP = Long-term incentive plan
Mcf = Thousand cubic feet
MQD = Minimum quarterly distribution
NGL = Natural gas liquids, including ethane, propane and butane
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Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

The accompanying financial statements and related notes present and discuss our consolidated financial position as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of our operations, cash flows, changes in partners’ capital/members’ equity, 
comprehensive income and changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 
and 2013. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, and certain reclassifications have been 
made to information from previous years to conform to the current presentation. These reclassifications do not affect net income 
attributable to PAGP. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PAGP and all of its wholly owned 
subsidiaries and those entities that it controls. Under GAAP, we consolidate PAA, AAP and GP LLC. Amounts associated with the 
interests in these entities not owned by us are reflected in our results of operations as net income attributable to noncontrolling 
interests and on our balance sheet in the partners’ capital section as noncontrolling interests. Investments in entities over which we 
have significant influence but not control are accounted for by the equity method.

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Partners’ Capital for the period ended December 31, 2015 includes an adjustment 
of $19 million to correct the misclassifications in prior periods of amounts allocated between our Class A shareholders and 
noncontrolling interests.  We have assessed the impact of the misclassification on current and prior periods and have determined the 
impacts are not material in any period.

For periods prior to our IPO, the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the financial statements of GP LLC, 
the predecessor of PAGP, and are based on the historical ownership percentages of GP LLC and AAP. These financial statements, to 
the extent they relate to periods prior to our IPO, have been prepared from the separate financial records maintained by GP LLC and 
may not necessarily be indicative of the actual results of operations that might have occurred if PAGP had operated separately during 
those periods.

Subsequent events have been evaluated through the financial statements issuance date and have been included in the 
following footnotes where applicable.

PNG Merger

On December 31, 2013, with the approval of PNG’s common unitholders, PNG became PAA’s wholly-owned subsidiary 
through a unit-for-unit exchange (referred to herein as the “PNG Merger”). PAA issued 0.445 PAA common units for each 
outstanding PNG common unit (the “Merger Exchange Ratio”) held by unitholders other than PAA, plus cash in lieu of any fractional 
PAA common units otherwise issuable in the PNG Merger. Also in conjunction with the PNG Merger, AAP agreed to reduce the 
amount of its incentive distributions. See Note 10 for further discussion. Since we historically consolidated PNG for financial 
reporting purposes, the PNG Merger did not change the basis of consolidation of our historical financial statements.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We make significant estimates with respect to 
(i) purchases and sales accruals, (ii) estimated fair value of assets and liabilities acquired and identification of associated goodwill and 
intangible assets, (iii) fair value of derivatives, (iv) accruals and contingent liabilities, (v) equity-indexed compensation plan accruals, 
(vi) property and equipment, depreciation expense and asset retirement obligations, (vii) allowance for doubtful accounts and 
(viii) inventory valuations. Although we believe these estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Supply and Logistics Segment Revenues.  Revenues from sales of crude oil, NGL and natural gas are recognized at the time 
title to the product sold transfers to the purchaser, which occurs upon delivery of the product to the purchaser or its designee. Sales of 
crude oil and NGL consist of outright sales contracts. Inventory purchases and sales under buy/sell transactions are treated as 
inventory exchanges. The sales under these exchanges are netted to zero in Supply and Logistics segment revenues in our 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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NYMEX = New York Mercantile Exchange
NYSE = New York Stock Exchange
Oxy = Occidental Petroleum Corporation or its subsidiaries
PLA = Pipeline loss allowance
PNG = PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P.
RCRA = Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended
USD = United States dollar
WTI = West Texas Intermediate
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Additionally, we may utilize derivatives in connection with the transactions described above. For commodity derivatives that 
are designated as cash flow hedges, derivative gains and losses are deferred in AOCI and recognized in revenues in the periods during 
which the underlying physical hedged transaction impacts earnings. Also, the ineffective portion of the change in fair value of cash 
flow hedges is recognized in revenues each period along with the change in fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for or are not 
designated for hedge accounting.

Transportation Segment Revenues.  Our Transportation segment operations generally consist of fee-based activities 
associated with transporting crude oil and NGL on pipelines, gathering systems, trucks and barges. Revenues from pipeline tariffs and 
fees are associated with the transportation of crude oil and NGL at a published tariff, as well as revenues associated with agreements 
for committed space on various assets. Tariff revenues are recognized either at the point of delivery or at the point of receipt pursuant 
to specifications outlined in the regulated and non-regulated tariffs. Revenues associated with fees are recognized in the month to 
which the fee applies. The majority of our pipeline tariff and fee revenues are based on actual volumes and rates. As is common in the 
pipeline transportation industry, our tariffs incorporate a loss allowance factor that is intended to offset losses due to evaporation, 
measurement and other losses in transit. We value the variance of allowance volumes to actual losses at the estimated net realizable 
value (including the impact of gains and losses from derivative related activities) at the time the variance occurred and the result is 
recorded as either an increase or decrease to tariff revenues. 

Facilities Segment Revenues.  Our Facilities segment operations generally consist of fee-based activities associated with 
providing storage, terminalling and throughput services for crude oil, refined products, NGL and natural gas, as well as NGL 
fractionation and isomerization services and natural gas and condensate processing services. Revenues generated in this segment 
include (i) fees that are generated from storage capacity agreements, (ii) terminal throughput fees that are generated when we receive 
crude oil, refined products or NGL from one connecting source and deliver the applicable product to another connecting carrier, 
(iii) loading and unloading fees at our rail terminals, (iv) fees from NGL fractionation and isomerization, (v) fees from natural gas and 
condensate processing services and (vi) fees associated with natural gas park and loan activities, interruptible storage services and 
wheeling and balancing services.

We generate revenue through a combination of month-to-month and multi-year agreements and processing arrangements.  
Storage fees resulting from short-term and long-term contracts are typically recognized in revenue ratably over the term of the contract 
regardless of the actual storage capacity utilized. Terminal fees (including throughput and rail fees) are recognized as the crude 
oil, NGL or refined product enters or exits the terminal and is received from or delivered to the connecting carrier or third-party 
terminal, as applicable. Hub service fees are recognized in the period the natural gas moves across our header system. Fees from NGL 
fractionation, isomerization services and gas processing services are recognized in the period when the services are performed. 

Minimum Volume Commitments. We have certain agreements that require counterparties to deliver, transport or throughput a 
minimum volume over an agreed upon period.  Some of these agreements include make-up rights if the minimum volume is not met. 
At December 31, 2015, counterparty deficiencies associated with agreements that include minimum volume commitments totaled $33 
million.

We record a receivable from the counterparty in the period that services are provided or when the transaction occurs, 
including amounts for deficiency obligations from counterparties associated with minimum volume commitments.  If a counterparty 
has a make-up right associated with a deficiency, we defer the revenue attributable to the counterparty make-up right and subsequently 
recognize the revenue at the earlier of when the deficiency volume is delivered or shipped, when the make-up right expires or when it 
is determined that the counterparty’s ability to utilize the make-up right is remote.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had deferred revenue associated with minimum volume commitments of $17 million 
and $4 million, respectively. In addition to the amounts recorded as deferred revenue, as of December 31, 2015, there was $16 million 
of accrued deficiencies for which the counterparties had not met their contractual minimum commitments, but we had not yet billed or 
collected such amounts.
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Purchases and Related Costs

Purchases and related costs include (i) the cost of crude oil, NGL and natural gas obtained in outright purchases, (ii) fees 
incurred for third-party storage and transportation, whether by pipeline, truck, rail, ship or barge, (iii) interest cost attributable to 
borrowings for inventory stored in a contango market and (iv) performance-related bonus costs. These costs are recognized when 
incurred except in the case of products purchased, which are recognized at the time title transfers to us. Purchases that are part of 
exchanges under buy/sell transactions are netted with the related sales, with any margin presented in “Purchases and related costs” in 
our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Field Operating Costs and General and Administrative Expenses

Field operating costs consist of various field operating expenses, including fuel and power costs (including the impact of 
gains and losses from derivative related activities), telecommunications, payroll and benefit costs (including equity-indexed 
compensation expense) for truck drivers and field and other operations personnel, third-party trucking transportation costs for our U.S. 
crude oil operations, maintenance and integrity management costs, regulatory compliance, environmental remediation, insurance, 
vehicle leases, and property taxes. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and benefit costs (including 
equity-indexed compensation expense), certain information systems and legal costs, office rent, contract and consultant costs and audit 
and tax fees.

Foreign Currency Transactions/Translation

Certain of our subsidiaries use the Canadian dollar as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with a 
Canadian dollar functional currency are translated at period-end rates of exchange, and revenues and expenses are translated at 
average exchange rates prevailing for each month. The resulting translation adjustments are made directly to a separate component of 
other comprehensive income, which is reflected in Partners’ Capital on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain of our subsidiaries also enter into transactions and have monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a 
currency other than the entities’ respective functional currencies. Gains and losses from the revaluation of foreign currency 
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The revaluation of foreign 
currency transactions and monetary assets and liabilities resulted in a net gain of $21 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a 
net loss of $13 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and a net gain of $1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all unrestricted demand deposits and funds invested in highly liquid instruments with 
original maturities of three months or less and typically exceed federally insured limits. We periodically assess the financial condition 
of the institutions where these funds are held and believe that our credit risk is minimal.

In accordance with our policy, outstanding checks are classified as accounts payable rather than negative cash. As of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, accounts payable included $60 million and $94 million, respectively, of outstanding checks that were 
reclassified from cash and cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers and shippers of crude oil and, to a lesser extent, purchasers of NGL 
and natural gas. These purchasers include, but are not limited to, refiners, producers, marketing and trading companies and financial 
institutions that are active in the physical and financial commodity markets. The majority of our accounts receivable relate to our 
crude oil supply and logistics activities that can generally be described as high volume and low margin activities, in many cases 
involving exchanges of crude oil volumes.
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The sustained decrease in commodity prices since late 2014 has caused liquidity issues throughout the energy industry, which 
in turn has increased the potential credit risks associated with certain counterparties with which we do business. To mitigate credit risk 
related to our accounts receivable, we utilize a rigorous credit review process. We closely monitor market conditions to make a 
determination with respect to the amount, if any, of open credit to be extended to any given customer and the form and amount of 
financial performance assurances we require. Such financial assurances are commonly provided to us in the form of advance cash 
payments, standby letters of credit or parental guarantees. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had received $88 million and 
$180 million, respectively, of advance cash payments from third parties to mitigate credit risk. We also received $36 million and $198 
million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, of standby letters of credit to support obligations due from third parties, a 
portion of which applies to future business. The decrease in standby letters of credit and advance cash payments from third parties as 
of December 31, 2015 compared to December 31, 2014 was largely due to a decrease in exposure to various customers requiring 
letters of credit. Additionally, in an effort to mitigate credit risk, a significant portion of our transactions with counterparties are settled 
on a net-cash basis. Furthermore, we also enter into netting agreements (contractual agreements that allow us to offset receivables and 
payables with those counterparties against each other on our balance sheet) for a majority of such arrangements.

We review all outstanding accounts receivable balances on a monthly basis and record a reserve for amounts that we expect 
will not be fully recovered. We do not apply actual balances against the reserve until we have exhausted substantially all collection 
efforts. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, substantially all of our trade accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) 
were less than 30 days past their scheduled invoice date. Our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable totaled $4 million at both 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. Although we consider our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable to be adequate, actual amounts 
could vary significantly from estimated amounts.

Noncontrolling Interests

We account for noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries in accordance with FASB guidance, which requires all entities to 
report noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries as a component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Noncontrolling 
interest represents the portion of assets and liabilities in a consolidated subsidiary that is owned by a third-party.  See Note 10 for 
additional discussion regarding our noncontrolling interests.

Asset Retirement Obligations

FASB guidance establishes accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible long-lived assets, 
including estimates related to (i) the time of the liability recognition, (ii) initial measurement of the liability, (iii) allocation of asset 
retirement cost to expense, (iv) subsequent measurement of the liability and (v) financial statement disclosures. FASB guidance also 
requires that the cost for asset retirement should be capitalized as part of the cost of the related long-lived asset and subsequently 
allocated to expense using a systematic and rational method.

Some of our assets, primarily related to our Transportation and Facilities segments, have contractual or regulatory obligations 
to perform remediation and, in some instances, dismantlement and removal activities when the assets are abandoned. These 
obligations include varying levels of activity including disconnecting inactive assets from active assets, cleaning and purging assets, 
and in some cases, completely removing the assets and returning the land to its original state. These assets have been in existence for 
many years and with regular maintenance will continue to be in service for many years to come. It is not possible to predict when 
demand for these transportation or storage services will cease, and we do not believe that such demand will cease for the foreseeable 
future. Accordingly, we believe the date when these assets will be abandoned is indeterminate. With no reasonably determinable 
abandonment date, we cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the associated asset retirement obligations. We will record asset 
retirement obligations for these assets in the period in which sufficient information becomes available for us to reasonably determine 
the settlement dates.

A small portion of our contractual or regulatory obligations is related to assets that are inactive or that we plan to take out of 
service and, although the ultimate timing and costs to settle these obligations are not known with certainty, we have recorded a 
reasonable estimate of these obligations. We have estimated that the fair value of these obligations was $35 million and $36 million, 
respectively, at December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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Fair Value Measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, which 
affects the placement of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy levels. The determination of the fair values includes not 
only the credit standing of the counterparties involved and the impact of credit enhancements (such as cash deposits and letters of 
credit) but also the impact of our nonperformance risk on our liabilities. The fair value of our commodity derivatives, interest rate 
derivatives and foreign currency derivatives includes adjustments for credit risk. Our credit adjustment methodology uses market 
observable inputs and requires judgment. There were no changes to any of our valuation techniques during the period. See Note 11 for 
further discussion.

Other Significant Accounting Policies

See the respective footnotes for our accounting policies regarding (i) net income per Class A share, (ii) inventory, linefill and 
base gas and long-term inventory, (iii) property and equipment, (iv) goodwill, (v) investments in unconsolidated entities, (vi) other 
long-term assets, net, (vii) derivatives and risk management activities, (viii) income taxes, (ix) equity-indexed compensation and 
(x) legal and environmental matters.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the balance sheet classification of deferred taxes by requiring that 
deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted, and may be applied prospectively or retrospectively to all periods presented. We 
early adopted this guidance during the fourth quarter of 2015, with prospective application. Prior period amounts presented have not 
been retrospectively adjusted. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

In September 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the accounting for measurement-period adjustments for 
provisional amounts recognized in a business combination by eliminating the requirement for an acquirer to retrospectively account 
for measurement-period adjustments. Under the updated guidance, the acquirer must recognize adjustments in the reporting period in 
which the adjustment amounts are determined and the effect on earnings as a result of the change to the provisional amounts must be 
calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. This guidance will become effective for interim and annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted, and must be applied prospectively. We adopted this 
guidance on January 1, 2016. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

In July 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the measurement of inventory. This updated guidance requires entities to 
measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value; however, inventory measured using last-in, first-out and the retail 
inventory method is unchanged by this update. This guidance will become effective for interim and annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016, with prospective application required. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. We 
expect to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2017, and we do not anticipate that our adoption will have a material impact on our 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs in entities’ financial statements. 
This updated guidance requires entities to present certain debt issuance costs as a direct deduction from the related debt liability, 
consistent with debt discounts. Additionally, amortization of debt issuance costs is required to be reported as interest expense. This 
guidance became effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015, with retrospective application required 
for all prior periods presented and early adoption permitted. We early adopted this guidance during the fourth quarter of 2015 and 
have retroactively adjusted all prior period information presented in this Form 10-K. Our adoption of this guidance resulted in the 
reclassification of $60 million of unamortized debt issuance costs from “Other long-term assets, net” to “Senior notes, net of 
unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs” and “Other long-term debt, net of unamortized discounts” in our accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014. Additionally, for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we reclassified 
$8 million and $10 million, respectively, from “Depreciation and amortization” to “Interest expense, net” in our accompanying 
Consolidated Statement of Operations related to the presentation of the amortization of debt issuance costs. Our adoption of this 
guidance did not impact our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, Cash Flows or Changes in Partners’ Capital.
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In February 2015, the FASB issued guidance that revises the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to determine 
whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. All legal entities are subject to reevaluation under the revised 
consolidation model. Among other things, this guidance (i) modifies the evaluation of whether limited partnerships and similar legal 
entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities, (ii) eliminates the presumption that a general partner should consolidate 
a limited partnership and (iii) affects the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with variable interest entities, 
particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party relationships. This guidance will become effective for interim and 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. We adopted 
this guidance on January 1, 2016. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance regarding the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers with the 
underlying principle that an entity will recognize revenue to reflect amounts expected to be received in exchange for the provision of 
goods and services to customers upon the transfer of those goods or services. The guidance also requires additional disclosures about 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and the related cash flows. This guidance can be adopted either with a full 
retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach with a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. In 
August 2015, the FASB issued guidance deferring the effective date to interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. 
Therefore, we expect to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2018, and we are currently evaluating which transition approach to apply 
and the impact that adopting this guidance will have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In April 2014, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the criteria under which assets to be disposed of are evaluated to 
determine if such assets qualify as a discontinued operation and requires new disclosures for both discontinued operations and certain 
other disposals that do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation. This guidance is effective prospectively for annual and 
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2015. Our adoption did not 
have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 3—Net Income Per Class A Share

Basic net income per Class A share is determined by dividing net income attributable to PAGP by the weighted-average 
number of Class A shares outstanding during the period. Class B shares do not share in the earnings of the Partnership. Accordingly, 
basic and diluted net income per Class B share has not been presented.

Diluted net income per Class A share is determined by dividing net income attributable to PAGP by the diluted weighted-
average number of Class A shares outstanding during the period. For purposes of calculating diluted net income per Class A share, 
both the net income attributable to PAGP and the diluted weighted-average number of Class A shares outstanding consider the impact 
of possible future exchanges of (i) AAP units and the associated Class B shares into our Class A shares and (ii) certain Class B units 
of AAP (referred to herein as “AAP Management Units”) into our Class A shares. In addition, the calculation of the diluted weighted 
average number of Class A shares outstanding considers the effect of potentially dilutive awards under the Plains GP Holdings, L.P. 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PAGP LTIP”).

All AAP Management Units that have satisfied the applicable performance conditions are considered potentially dilutive. 
Exchanges of potentially dilutive AAP units and AAP Management Units are assumed to have occurred at the beginning of the period 
and the incremental income attributable to PAGP resulting from the assumed exchanges is representative of the incremental income 
that would have been attributable to PAGP if the assumed exchanges occurred on that date. See Note 10 for information regarding 
exchanges of AAP units and AAP Management Units. PAGP LTIP awards that are deemed to be dilutive are reduced by a 
hypothetical share repurchase based on the remaining unamortized fair value, as prescribed by the treasury stock method in guidance 
issued by the FASB. See Note 15 for a complete discussion of PAGP LTIP awards.
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For the year ended December 31, 2015, the possible exchange of any AAP units and certain AAP Management Units would 
have had an antidilutive effect on basic net income per Class A share. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the possible exchange 
of any AAP units and certain AAP Management Units would have had a dilutive effect on basic net income per Class A share. For the 
same periods, our PAGP LTIP awards were dilutive; however, there were less than 0.1 million dilutive LTIP awards for each period, 
which did not change the presentation of weighted average Class A shares outstanding or net income per Class A share. For the year 
ended December 31, 2013, the possible exchange of any AAP units and certain AAP Management Units would have had an 
antidilutive effect on net income per Class A share. The following tables illustrate the calculation of basic and diluted net income per 
Class A share for the periods indicated (in millions, except per share data):

Basic weighted average Class A shares outstanding is weighted for the period following the closing of our IPO. 
Approximately 128 million Class A shares were issued upon closing of our IPO with approximately 4 million additional 
Class A shares issued through the exercise in October 2013 of an over-allotment option. Subsequent conversions of AAP 
units were immaterial.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014

Basic Net Income per Class A Share
Net income attributable to PAGP $ 118 $ 70
Basic weighted average Class A shares outstanding 222 145

Basic net income per Class A share $ 0.53 $ 0.48

Diluted Net Income per Class A Share
Net income attributable to PAGP $ 118 $ 70

Incremental net income attributable to PAGP resulting from assumed exchange of AAP 
units and AAP Management Units — 235

Net income attributable to PAGP including incremental net income from assumed exchange of
AAP units and AAP Management Units $ 118 $ 305

Basic weighted average Class A shares outstanding 222 145
Dilutive shares resulting from assumed exchange of AAP units and AAP Management 

Units — 505
Diluted weighted average Class A shares outstanding 222 650

Diluted net income per Class A share $ 0.53 $ 0.47

October 21, 2013
to December 31, 2013

Basic and Diluted Net Income per Class A Share
Net income attributable to PAGP $ 15
Less: Net income attributable to PAGP for the period from January 1, 2013 to October 20, 2013 (3)
Net income attributable to PAGP for the period from October 21, 2013 to December 31, 2013 $ 12
Basic and diluted weighted average Class A shares outstanding 132

Basic and diluted net income per Class A share $ 0.10

(1)

(1)
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Note 4—Inventory, Linefill and Base Gas and Long-term Inventory

Inventory primarily consists of crude oil, NGL and natural gas in pipelines, storage facilities and railcars that are valued at 
the lower of cost or market, with cost determined using an average cost method within specific inventory pools. At the end of each 
reporting period, we assess the carrying value of our inventory and make any adjustments necessary to reduce the carrying value to the 
applicable net realizable value. Any resulting adjustments are a component of “Purchases and related costs” on our accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we recorded charges of $117 
million, $289 million and $7 million, respectively, related to the writedown of our crude oil, NGL and natural gas inventory due to 
declines in prices. In addition, the charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2014 included the writedown of our natural 
gas inventory that was purchased in conjunction with managing natural gas storage deliverability requirements during the extended 
period of severe cold weather in the first quarter of 2014. A portion of these adjustments was offset by the recognition of gains on 
derivative instruments being utilized to hedge the future sales of our crude oil and NGL inventory. Substantially all of such gains were 
recorded to “Supply and Logistics segment revenues” in our accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. See Note 11 for 
discussion of our derivative and risk management activities.

Linefill and base gas and minimum working inventory requirements in assets we own are recorded at historical cost and 
consist of crude oil, NGL and natural gas. We classify as linefill or base gas (i) our proportionate share of barrels used to fill a pipeline 
that we own such that when an incremental barrel is pumped into or enters a pipeline it forces product out at another location, 
(ii) barrels that represent the minimum working requirements in tanks and caverns that we own and (iii) natural gas required to 
maintain the minimum operating pressure of natural gas storage facilities we own. Linefill and base gas carrying amounts are 
reviewed for impairment in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived 
assets. Carrying amounts that are not expected to be recoverable through future cash flows are written down to estimated fair value. 
See Note 5 for further discussion regarding impairment of long-lived assets.  During 2015, 2014 and 2013, we did not recognize any 
impairments of linefill and base gas, but we did recognize gains of less than $1 million, $8 million and $7 million, respectively, on the 
sale of linefill and base gas for proceeds of $1 million, $24 million and $40 million, respectively.

Minimum working inventory requirements in third-party assets and other working inventory in our assets that are needed for 
our commercial operations are included within specific inventory pools in inventory (a current asset) in determining the average cost 
of operating inventory. At the end of each period, we reclassify the inventory not expected to be liquidated within the succeeding 
twelve months out of inventory, at the average cost of the applicable inventory pools, and into long-term inventory, which is reflected 
as a separate line item in “Other assets” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Inventory, linefill and base gas and long-term inventory consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (barrels and 
natural gas volumes in thousands and carrying value in millions):

Price per unit of measure is comprised of a weighted average associated with various grades, qualities and locations. 
Accordingly, these prices may not coincide with any published benchmarks for such products.

Note 5—Property and Equipment

In accordance with our capitalization policy, expenditures made to expand the existing operating and/or earnings capacity of 
our assets are capitalized. We also capitalize certain costs directly related to the construction of such assets, including related internal 
labor costs, engineering costs and interest costs. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, capitalized interest was $57 
million, $48 million and $38 million, respectively. We also capitalize expenditures for the replacement of partially or fully depreciated 
assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets. Repair and maintenance expenditures incurred 
in order to maintain the day to day operation of our existing assets are expensed as incurred.

Property and equipment, net is stated at cost and consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

We calculate our depreciation using the straight-line method, based on estimated useful lives and salvage values of our assets. 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $381 million, $321 million and $262 million, 
respectively. We also classify gains and losses on sales of assets and asset impairments as a component of “Depreciation and 
amortization” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. See “Impairment of Long-Lived Assets” below for a discussion of our 
policy for the recognition of asset impairments.
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Volumes
Unit of

Measure
Carrying

Value
Price/
Unit Volumes

Unit of
Measure

Carrying
Value

Price/
Unit 

Inventory
Crude oil 16,345 barrels $ 608 $ 37.20 6,465 barrels $ 304 $ 47.02
NGL 13,907 barrels 218 $ 15.68 13,553 barrels 454 $ 33.50
Natural gas 22,080 Mcf 53 $ 2.40 32,317 Mcf 102 $ 3.16
Other N/A 37 N/A N/A 31 N/A

Inventory subtotal 916 891

Linefill and base gas
Crude oil 12,298 barrels 713 $ 57.98 11,810 barrels 744 $ 63.00
NGL 1,348 barrels 44 $ 32.64 1,212 barrels 52 $ 42.90
Natural gas 30,812 Mcf 141 $ 4.58 28,612 Mcf 134 $ 4.68

Linefill and base gas 
subtotal 898 930

Long-term inventory
Crude oil 3,417 barrels 106 $ 31.02 2,582 barrels 136 $ 52.67
NGL 1,652 barrels 23 $ 13.92 1,681 barrels 50 $ 29.74

Long-term inventory 
subtotal 129 186

Total $ 1,943 $ 2,007

Estimated Useful December 31,
Lives (Years) 2015 2014

Pipelines and related facilities 10 - 70 $ 8,436 $ 7,044
Storage, terminal and rail facilities 30 - 70 5,012 4,853
Trucking equipment and other 3 - 15 392 198
Construction in progress - 1,217 1,545
Office property and equipment 2 - 50 196 156
Land and other N/A 442 423

15,695 14,219
Accumulated depreciation (2,202) (1,927)

Property and equipment, net $ 13,493 $ 12,292

(1) (1)

(1)
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets with recorded values that are not expected to be recovered through future cash flows are written down to 
estimated fair value in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to the accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived 
assets. Under this guidance, a long-lived asset is tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that its carrying value 
may not be recoverable. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash 
flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted 
cash flows, an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset is recognized.

We periodically evaluate property and equipment and other long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the underlying 
assumptions of related cash flows.  The subjective assumptions used to determine the existence of an impairment in carrying value 
include:

whether there is an indication of impairment;

the grouping of assets;

the intention of “holding,” “abandoning” or “selling” an asset;

the forecast of undiscounted expected future cash flow over the asset’s estimated useful life; and

if an impairment exists, the fair value of the asset or asset group.

We did not recognize any impairments during the year ended December 31, 2015. During the years ended December 31, 
2014 and 2013, we recognized impairments of $10 million and $20 million, respectively,  primarily related to assets that were taken 
out of service.

Note 6—Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in a business combination that are not 
individually identified and separately recognized.

In accordance with FASB guidance, we test goodwill to determine whether an impairment has occurred at least annually (as 
of June 30) and on an interim basis if it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit. A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level 
below an operating segment for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by segment management. Our 
reporting units are our operating segments. FASB guidance requires a two-step, quantitative approach to testing goodwill for 
impairment; however, we may first assess certain qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step 
goodwill impairment test. We did not elect to apply this qualitative assessment during our 2015 annual goodwill impairment test, but 
proceeded directly to the two-step, quantitative test. In Step 1, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit with the respective book 
values, including goodwill, by using an income approach based on a discounted cash flow analysis. This approach requires us to make 
long-term forecasts of future revenues, expenses and other expenditures. Those forecasts require the use of various assumptions and 
estimates, the most significant of which are net revenues (total revenues less purchases and related costs), operating expenses, general 
and administrative expenses and the weighted average cost of capital. Fair value of the reporting units is determined using significant 
unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. When the fair value is greater than book value, then the reporting 
unit’s goodwill is not considered impaired. If the book value is greater than fair value, then we proceed to Step 2. In Step 2, we 
compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to the book value. A goodwill impairment loss is recognized if the 
carrying amount exceeds its fair value.

Through Step 1 of our annual testing of goodwill for potential impairment, which also includes a sensitivity analysis 
regarding the excess of our reporting unit’s fair value over book value, we determined that the fair value of each reporting unit was 
substantially greater than its respective book value; therefore, goodwill was not considered impaired.  We did not recognize any 
material impairments of goodwill during the last three years.
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As of December 31, 2015, as a result of industry conditions, we considered qualitative factors to determine whether a 
triggering event had occurred, which would require that a Step 1 impairment test be performed as of the end of the year. A triggering 
event is a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any reporting unit was less than its carrying value. Based 
on our assessment, we concluded that a triggering event had not occurred as of December 31, 2015. However, significant negative 
variances in the assumptions and estimates utilized in our forecasts, such as a continued decline in petroleum commodity prices or a 
sustained multi-year low petroleum commodity price environment that results in lower volumes and cash flows or further increases in 
our weighted average cost of capital assumption, could result in reporting unit carrying values in excess of fair values.

Goodwill by segment and changes in goodwill is reflected in the following table (in millions):

Goodwill is recorded at the acquisition date based on a preliminary fair value determination. This preliminary goodwill 
balance may be adjusted when the fair value determination is finalized.

Note 7—Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

Investments in entities over which we have significant influence but not control are accounted for by the equity method. We 
do not consolidate any part of the assets or liabilities of our equity investees. Our share of net income or loss is reflected as one line 
item on our Consolidated Statements of Operations entitled “Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities” and will increase or decrease, 
as applicable, the carrying value of our investments in unconsolidated entities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, as 
applicable, we include a proportionate share of our equity method investees’ unrealized gains and losses in other comprehensive 
income on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We also adjust our investment balances in these investees by the like amount. We 
evaluate our equity investments for impairment in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to the equity method of accounting 
for investments in common stock. An impairment of an equity investment results when factors indicate that the investment’s fair value 
is less than its carrying value and the reduction in value is other than temporary in nature.

Our investments in the following entities are accounted for under the equity method of accounting:

Our initial investment in the entity occurred in 2015.

Asset is currently under construction by the entity and has not yet been placed in service.

In November 2014, we acquired a 50% interest in BridgeTex from Oxy. BridgeTex owns a 300,000 barrel-per-day crude oil 
pipeline that extends from Colorado City in West Texas to a crude oil terminal in East Houston, which we believe is complementary 
to our existing West Texas assets. We paid cash of $1.088 billion, including working capital adjustments of $13 million, for our 
interest in BridgeTex.
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Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 878 $ 1,162 $ 463 $ 2,503

Acquisitions — 1 — 1
Foreign currency translation adjustments (24) (11) (4) (39)

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 854 $ 1,152 $ 459 $ 2,465
Acquisitions 3 8 — 11
Foreign currency translation adjustments (42) (19) (10) (71)
Other — (54) 54 —

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 815 $ 1,087 $ 503 $ 2,405

Entity Type of Operation
Our Ownership

Interest
Settoon Towing, LLC Barge Transportation Services 50%
BridgeTex Pipeline Company, LLC (“BridgeTex”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Caddo Pipeline LLC (“Caddo”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Diamond Pipeline LLC (“Diamond”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Eagle Ford Pipeline LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Eagle Ford Terminals Corpus Christi LLC (“Eagle Ford Terminals”) Crude Oil Terminal and Dock 50%
Frontier Pipeline Company Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Saddlehorn Pipeline Company, LLC (“Saddlehorn”) Crude Oil Pipeline 40%
White Cliffs Pipeline, LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 36%
Butte Pipe Line Company Crude Oil Pipeline 22%

(1)

(1)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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We consider distributions received from unconsolidated entities as returns on investment in those entities to the extent of 
cumulative net operating cash flows, and therefore classify these distributions as cash flows from operating activities in our 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. We define cumulative net operating cash flows as cumulative net income adjusted for certain 
non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization expense. Other distributions received from unconsolidated entities would be 
considered a return of the investment and classified as cash flows from investing activities on the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows.

We generally fund our portion of development, construction or capital expansion projects of our equity method investees 
through capital contributions. Our contributions to these entities increase the carrying value of our investments and are reflected in our 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as cash used in investing activities. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 
2013, we made cash contributions of $253 million, $158 million and $133 million, respectively, to certain of our equity method 
investees. The contributions amount for 2015 is net of $53 million of cash received as a return of our investment. We anticipate that 
we will make additional contributions related to ongoing projects at Diamond, Saddlehorn, Eagle Ford Terminals and Caddo over the 
next several years.

Our investments in unconsolidated entities exceeded our share of the underlying equity in the net assets of such entities by 
$760 million and $763 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Such basis differences are included in the carrying 
values of our investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The portion of the basis differences attributable to depreciable or 
amortizable assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related assets, which reduces “Equity 
earnings in unconsolidated entities” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The portion of the basis differences attributable to 
goodwill is not amortized. The basis difference is primarily related to our acquisition of an interest in BridgeTex.

Summarized Financial Information of Unconsolidated Entities

Combined summarized financial information for all of our unconsolidated entities is shown in the tables below (in millions):

Note 8—Other Long-Term Assets, Net

Other long-term assets, net of accumulated amortization, consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $49 
million, $57 million and $85 million, respectively.
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December 31,
2015 2014

Current assets $ 365 $ 184
Noncurrent assets $ 2,901 $ 2,303
Current liabilities $ 231 $ 142
Noncurrent liabilities $ 184 $ 222

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Revenues $ 769 $ 531 $ 344
Operating income $ 441 $ 301 $ 181
Net income $ 424 $ 285 $ 172

December 31,
2015 2014

Intangible assets $ 610 $ 644
Fair value of derivative instruments 9 27
Other 91 59

710 730
Accumulated amortization (327) (301)

$ 383 $ 429
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Intangible assets that have finite lives are tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable. Our intangible assets that have finite lives consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

Emission reduction credits, once surrendered in exchange for environmental permits, are finite-lived.

We estimate that our amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets for the next five years will be as follows (in 
millions):
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Estimated Useful Accumulated Accumulated

Lives (Years) Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
Customer contracts and 

relationships 1 – 20 $ 537 $ (301) $ 236 $ 565 $ (277) $ 288
Property tax abatement 7 – 13 38 (22) 16 38 (18) 20
Other agreements 25 – 70 28 (4) 24 33 (4) 29
Emission reduction credits N/A 7 — 7 8 — 8

$ 610 $ (327) $ 283 $ 644 $ (299) $ 345

2016 $ 44
2017 $ 41
2018 $  36
2019 $ 33
2020 $ 31

(1)

(1)
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Note 9—Debt

Debt consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

We classified these PAA commercial paper notes and credit facility borrowings as short-term at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
as these notes and borrowings were primarily designated as working capital borrowings, were required to be repaid within one 
year and were primarily for hedged NGL and crude oil inventory and NYMEX and ICE margin deposits.

As of December 31, 2015, we have classified PAA’s $175 million, 5.88% senior notes due August 2016 and a portion of 
PAA’s commercial paper notes as long-term based on PAA’s ability and intent to refinance such amounts on a long-term 
basis under its credit agreements.
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December 31, December 31,
2015 2014

SHORT-TERM DEBT
PAA commercial paper notes, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.1% and 

0.46%, respectively $ 696 $ 734
PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.4% 

300 —
PAA senior notes:

5.25% senior notes due June 2015 — 150
3.95% senior notes due September 2015 — 400

Other 3 3
Total short-term debt 999 1,287

LONG-TERM DEBT
PAA senior notes:

5.88% senior notes due August 2016 175 175
6.13% senior notes due January 2017 400 400
6.50% senior notes due May 2018 600 600
8.75% senior notes due May 2019 350 350
2.60% senior notes due December 2019 500 500
5.75% senior notes due January 2020 500 500
5.00% senior notes due February 2021 600 600
3.65% senior notes due June 2022 750 750
2.85% senior notes due January 2023 400 400
3.85% senior notes due October 2023 700 700
3.60% senior notes due November 2024 750 750
4.65% senior notes due October 2025 1,000 —
6.70% senior notes due May 2036 250 250
6.65% senior notes due January 2037 600 600
5.15% senior notes due June 2042 500 500
4.30% senior notes due January 2043 350 350
4.70% senior notes due June 2044 700 700
4.90% senior notes due February 2045 650 650
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs (77) (76)

PAA senior notes, net of unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs 9,698 8,699
PAA commercial paper notes, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.1% 672 —
AAP term loan, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 2.0% and 1.8%, respectively 550 500
AAP senior secured revolving credit facility, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 2.0% 

and 1.8%, respectively 9 36
Unamortized debt issuance costs (2) (2)
Other 5 5

Total long-term debt 10,932 9,238
Total debt $ 11,931 $ 10,525

(1)

(1)

(2)

(2)

(3) 

(1)

(2)
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PAA’s fixed-rate senior notes (including current maturities) had a face value of approximately $9.8 billion and $9.3 billion as 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. We estimated the aggregate fair value of these notes as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014 to be approximately $8.6 billion and $9.9 billion, respectively. PAA’s fixed-rate senior notes are traded among 
institutions, and these trades are routinely published by a reporting service. Our determination of fair value is based on 
reported trading activity near year end. We estimate that the carrying value of outstanding borrowings under the credit 
agreements and the PAA commercial paper program approximates fair value as interest rates reflect current market rates. The 
fair value estimates for the PAA senior notes, the credit agreements and the PAA commercial paper program are based upon 
observable market data and are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

PAA Commercial Paper Program

PAA has a commercial paper program under which it may issue (and have outstanding at any time) up to $3.0 billion in the 
aggregate of privately placed, unsecured commercial paper notes. Such notes are backstopped by the PAA senior unsecured revolving 
credit facility and the PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility; as such, any borrowings under the PAA commercial paper 
program reduce the available capacity under these facilities.

Credit Agreements

PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility. The PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility has a committed borrowing 
capacity of $1.4 billion, of which $400 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit. Subject to obtaining additional or 
increased lender commitments, the committed amount of the facility may be increased to $1.9 billion. Proceeds from the facility are 
primarily used to finance purchased or stored hedged inventory, including NYMEX and ICE margin deposits. Such obligations under 
the committed facility are secured by the financed inventory and the associated accounts receivable and are repaid from the proceeds 
of the sale of the financed inventory. Borrowings accrue interest based, at PAA’s election, on either the Eurocurrency Rate or the Base 
Rate, in each case plus a margin based on PAA’s credit rating at the applicable time. The agreement also provides for one or more 
one-year extensions, subject to applicable approval. In August 2015, PAA extended the maturity date of the facility to August 2018.

PAA senior unsecured revolving credit facility. The PAA senior unsecured revolving credit facility has a committed 
borrowing capacity of $1.6 billion and contains an accordion feature that enables us to increase the committed capacity to $2.1 billion, 
subject to obtaining additional or increased lender commitments. The credit agreement also provides for the issuance of letters of 
credit. Borrowings accrue interest based, at PAA’s election, on the Eurocurrency Rate, the Base Rate or the Canadian Prime Rate, in 
each case plus a margin based on PAA’s credit rating at the applicable time. The agreement also provides for one or more one-year 
extensions, subject to applicable approval. In August 2015, PAA extended the maturity date of the facility to August 2020.

PAA senior unsecured 364-day revolving credit facility. In January 2015, PAA entered into an agreement for a 364-day 
senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a borrowing capacity of $1.0 billion. In August 2015, PAA amended this agreement to 
extend the maturity date to August 2016. Borrowings accrue interest based, at PAA’s election, on either the Eurocurrency Rate or the 
Base Rate, as defined in the agreement, in each case plus a margin based on PAA’s credit rating at the applicable time.

AAP senior secured credit agreement.  In August 2015, AAP amended its credit agreement to, among other things, 
(i) increase its term loan commitments from $500 million to $550 million, (ii) increase the aggregate commitments under its senior 
secured revolving credit facility from $75 million to $125 million and (iii) extend the maturity date of the term loan and senior secured 
revolving credit facility to August 2020 through the exercise of the option included in the current credit agreement. In addition, the 
amendment provides for a $50 million accordion feature, which may be used to expand the term loan and/or revolving credit facility 
commitments. We pay a quarterly commitment fee on the revolver that is based on AAP’s Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated 
EBITDA ratio (“Leverage Ratio”), as defined in the AAP credit agreement. The commitment fee can range from 0.175% to 0.35% and 
is payable on the daily average unused amount of the revolver. Borrowings accrue interest based, at AAP’s election, on the Alternative 
Base Rate (the greater of the Base Rate or Federal Funds Effective Rate) or the Eurodollar Rate, in each case plus a margin as 
determined by AAP’s Leverage Ratio.

PAA Senior Notes

PAA’s senior notes are co-issued, jointly and severally, by Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and a 100%-owned 
consolidated finance subsidiary (neither of which have independent assets or operations) and are unsecured senior obligations of such 
entities and rank equally in right of payment with existing and future senior indebtedness of the issuers. PAA may, at its option, 
redeem any series of senior notes at any time in whole or from time to time in part, prior to maturity, at the redemption prices 
described in the indentures governing the senior notes. PAA’s senior notes are not guaranteed by any of its subsidiaries.
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PAA Senior Notes Issuances

The table below summarizes PAA’s issuances of senior unsecured notes during 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in millions):

PAA Senior Note Repayments

The PAA $150 million, 5.25% senior notes and $400 million, 3.95% senior notes were repaid in June 2015 and 
September 2015, respectively. We utilized cash on hand and available capacity under the PAA commercial paper program to repay 
these notes.

On December 13, 2013, PAA repaid its $250 million, 5.63% senior notes. We utilized cash on hand and available capacity 
under the PAA commercial paper program to repay these notes.

Maturities

The weighted average maturity of our long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2015 was approximately 11 years. The 
following table presents the aggregate contractually scheduled maturities for the next five years and thereafter. The amounts presented 
exclude unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs.

Covenants and Compliance

PAA Credit Agreements. PAA’s credit agreements (which impact the ability to access the PAA commercial paper program 
because they provide the backstop that supports PAA’s short-term credit ratings) and the indentures governing PAA’s senior notes 
contain cross-default provisions. PAA’s credit agreements prohibit declaration or payments of distributions on, or purchases or 
redemptions of, units if any default or event of default is continuing. In addition, PAA’s credit agreements contain various covenants 
limiting PAA’s ability to, among other things:

grant liens on certain property;

incur indebtedness, including capital leases;

sell substantially all of its assets or enter into a merger or consolidation;

engage in certain transactions with affiliates; and

enter into certain burdensome agreements.
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Year Description Maturity Face Value Interest Payment Dates
2015 4.65% Senior Notes issued at 99.846% of face value October 2025 $ 1,000 April 15 and October 15

2014 2.60% Senior Notes issued at 99.813% of face value December 2019 $ 500 June 15 and December 15
2014 4.90% Senior Notes issued at 99.876% of face value February 2045 $ 650 February 15 and August 15
2014 3.60% Senior Notes issued at 99.842% of face value November 2024 $ 750 May 1 and November 1
2014 4.70% Senior Notes issued at 99.734% of face value June 2044 $ 700 June 15 and December 15

2013 3.85% Senior Notes issued at 99.792% of face value October 2023 $ 700 April 15 and October 15

Payment
Calendar Year (in millions)
2016 $ 847
2017 400
2018 600
2019 850
2020 1,059
Thereafter 7,255
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The credit agreements for the PAA senior unsecured revolving credit facility, the PAA senior secured hedged inventory 
facility and the PAA senior unsecured 364-day revolving credit facility treat a change of control as an event of default and also require 
PAA to maintain a debt-to-EBITDA coverage ratio that, on a trailing four-quarter basis, will not be greater than 5.00 to 1.00 (or 
5.50 to 1.00 on all outstanding debt during an acquisition period (generally, the period consisting of three fiscal quarters following an 
acquisition greater than $150 million)). For covenant compliance purposes, Consolidated EBITDA may include certain adjustments, 
including those for material projects and certain non-recurring expenses. Additionally, letters of credit and borrowings to fund hedged 
inventory and margin requirements are excluded when calculating the debt coverage ratio.

A default under PAA’s credit facilities would permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the outstanding debt. As long as 
PAA is in compliance with its credit agreements, PAA’s ability to make distributions of available cash is not restricted. As of 
December 31, 2015, PAA was in compliance with the covenants contained in its credit agreements and indentures.

AAP Credit Agreement. To secure the AAP credit agreement, AAP pledged 100% of (i) its incentive distribution rights in 
PAA and (ii) its interest in PAA GP. The AAP credit agreement contains various covenants limiting AAP’s ability to, among other 
things:

incur additional indebtedness;

grant liens;

make fundamental changes as defined;

make restrictive payments as defined; and

enter into restrictive agreements.

The AAP credit agreement also requires AAP to maintain a Leverage Ratio of no greater than 4.0 to 1.0. As of December 31, 
2015, AAP was in compliance with the covenants contained in its credit agreement.

Borrowings and Repayments

Total borrowings under the credit agreements and the PAA commercial paper program for the years ended December 31, 
2015, 2014 and 2013 were approximately $62.3 billion, $71.0 billion and $31.5 billion, respectively. Total repayments under the 
credit agreements and the PAA commercial paper program were approximately $61.4 billion, $71.3 billion and $31.2 billion for the 
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The variance in total gross borrowings and repayments is impacted by 
various business and financial factors including, but not limited to, the timing, average term and method of general partnership 
borrowing activities.

Letters of Credit

In connection with our supply and logistics activities, we provide certain suppliers with irrevocable standby letters of credit 
to secure our obligation for the purchase of crude oil, NGL and natural gas. These letters of credit are issued under the PAA senior 
unsecured revolving credit facility and the PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility, and our liabilities with respect to these 
purchase obligations are recorded in accounts payable on our balance sheet in the month the crude oil, NGL or natural gas is 
purchased. Generally, these letters of credit are issued for periods of up to seventy days and are terminated upon completion of each 
transaction. Additionally, we issue letters of credit to support insurance programs, derivative transactions and construction activities. 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had outstanding letters of credit of $46 million and $87 million, respectively.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of senior notes and long-term debt under credit agreements are recorded as a 
direct deduction from the related debt liability and are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the related debt. Use 
of the straight-line method does not differ materially from the “effective interest” method of amortization.
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Note 10—Partners’ Capital and Distributions

Class A and Class B Shares

Our Class A shares and Class B shares represent limited partner interests in us. The holders of our Class A and Class B shares 
are entitled to exercise the rights or privileges available to limited partners under our partnership agreement, but only holders of 
Class A shares are entitled to participate in our distributions.

Initial Public Offering

Immediately prior to our IPO, the general partner interest in AAP held by GP LLC was converted into a non-economic 
interest and, through a series of transactions with our general partner and the owners of GP LLC, we issued 473,647,679 Class B 
shares and an equal number of units of our general partner to such owners and received a 100% managing member interest in GP 
LLC. Also prior to our IPO, certain owners of AAP (the “Selling Owners”) sold a portion of their interests in AAP to us in exchange 
for the right to receive an amount equal to the net proceeds of the IPO, resulting in our ownership of AAP units representing limited 
partnership interests in AAP.

On October 21, 2013, we completed our IPO of 132,382,094 Class A shares representing limited partner interests in us at a 
price of $22.00 per Class A share, generating net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and direct 
offering expenses, of approximately $2.8 billion. We distributed the net proceeds of the IPO to the Selling Owners.

Exchange Rights

Holders of AAP units and their permitted transferees each have the right to exchange all or a portion of their AAP units for 
Class A shares at an exchange ratio of one Class A share for each AAP unit exchanged (referred to herein as their “Exchange Right”). 
This Exchange Right may be exercised only if, simultaneously therewith, an equal number of Class B shares and general partner units 
are transferred by the exercising party to us. Additionally, beginning after December 31, 2015, a holder of vested AAP Management 
Units will be entitled to convert his or her AAP Management Units into AAP units and a like number of our Class B shares based on a 
conversion ratio calculated in accordance with the AAP limited partnership agreement (which conversion ratio will not be more than 
one-to-one and was approximately 0.938 AAP units for each AAP Management Unit as of December 31, 2015). Following any such 
conversion, the holder will have the Exchange Right for our Class A shares. Holders of AAP Management Units who convert such 
units into AAP units and Class B shares will not receive general partner units and thus will not need to include any general partner 
units in a transfer or the exercise of their Exchange Right. See Note 15 for additional information regarding the AAP Management 
Units.

Shares Outstanding

The following table presents the activity for our Class A shares and Class B shares for the periods indicated:

Includes 69,000,000 Class A shares issued to Oxy immediately preceding the sale of such shares in an underwritten 
secondary public offering. See Note 14 for further discussion.
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Class B Shares Class A Shares
Balance at October 21, 2013 (IPO date) — —
Shares issued in connection with the reorganization and IPO 473,647,679 132,382,094
Shares (exchanged)/issued in connection with Exchange Right exercises (1,451,543) 1,451,543
Balance at December 31, 2013 472,196,136 133,833,637
Shares (exchanged)/issued in connection with Exchange Right exercises (73,099,637) 73,099,637
Balance at December 31, 2014 399,096,499 206,933,274
Shares (exchanged)/issued in connection with Exchange Right exercises (22,324,906) 22,324,906
Shares issued in connection with PAGP LTIP award vestings — 20,800
Balance at December 31, 2015 376,771,593 229,278,980

(1)

(1)
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Distributions

We distribute 100% of our available cash within 55 days following the end of each quarter to Class A shareholders of record. 
Available cash is generally defined as all cash on hand at the date of determination of available cash for the distribution in respect to 
such quarter (including expected distributions from AAP in respect of such quarter), less reserves established by our general partner 
for future requirements.

The following table details the distributions paid to Class A shareholders during the periods indicated (in millions, except per 
share data):

The distribution paid to our Class A shareholders in the first quarter of 2014 was based on the prorated distribution received 
from AAP attributable to the period beginning on the date of the closing of our IPO through the end of the fourth quarter of 
2013.

On January 12, 2016, we declared a cash distribution of $0.231 per outstanding Class A share. This distribution of $55 
million was paid on February 12, 2016 to shareholders of record at the close of business on January 29, 2016, for the period October 1, 
2015 through December 31, 2015.

Distributions Prior to our IPO. During the year ended December 31, 2013, $6 million was distributed to the owners of GP 
LLC. Of the amount distributed during the year ended December 31, 2013, $3 million related to distributions received from AAP of 
the net proceeds from the increase in AAP’s term loan, as discussed under “AAP Distributions” below.

Consolidated Subsidiaries

Noncontrolling Interests in Subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2015, noncontrolling interests in our subsidiaries consisted of (i) a 98% limited partner interest in PAA, 
(ii) an approximate 62% limited partner interest in AAP that consists of Class A units and AAP Management Units (a profits interest) 
and (iii) a 25% interest in SLC Pipeline LLC.

Subsidiary Distributions

PAA Distributions. PAA distributes 100% of its available cash within 45 days following the end of each quarter to 
unitholders of record and to AAP. Available cash is generally defined as all of PAA’s cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of 
each quarter, less reserves established by its general partner for future requirements.

AAP is entitled to receive (i) distributions representing its 2% indirect general partner interest in PAA and (ii) incentive 
distributions if the amount PAA distributes with respect to any quarter exceeds levels specified in PAA’s partnership agreement. 
Under the quarterly distribution provisions, AAP is entitled, without duplication, to 2% of amounts PAA distributes up to $0.2250 per 
unit, referred to as the MQD, 15% of amounts PAA distributes in excess of $0.2250 per unit, 25% of the amounts PAA distributes in 
excess of $0.2475 per unit and 50% of amounts PAA distributes in excess of $0.3375 per unit.

During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, AAP’s incentive distributions were reduced by approximately 
$22 million, $23 million and $15 million, respectively. These reductions were agreed to in connection with the BP NGL Acquisition 
and the PNG Merger. In addition, AAP has agreed to reduce the amount of its incentive distribution by $5.0 million per quarter in 
2016 and $3.75 million per quarter thereafter.  In connection with PAA’s January 2016 private placement of preferred units, as 
discussed further in “Issuance of Units by Subsidiaries” below, AAP agreed to further modify its IDRs such that when the preferred 
units convert into PAA common units, the IDRs associated with the resulting common units will only participate in distribution 
growth above an annualized PAA distribution level of $2.80 per converted PAA common unit.
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Year Distributions Paid Distributions per Class A Share
2015 $ 195 $ 0.88300

2014 $ 91 $ 0.66975(1)

(1)
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The following table details distributions, net of reductions in AAP’s incentive distributions, paid during periods indicated (in 
millions, except per unit data):

On January 12, 2016, PAA declared a cash distribution of $0.70 per unit on PAA’s outstanding common units. The 
distribution was paid on February 12, 2016 to unitholders of record on January 29, 2016, for the period October 1, 2015 through 
December 31, 2015. The total distribution paid was $433 million, with $278 million paid to PAA’s common unitholders and $155 
million paid to AAP for its 2% general partner and incentive distribution interests.

AAP Distributions. AAP distributes all of the cash received from PAA distributions on a quarterly basis, less reserves 
established in the discretion of its general partner for future requirements. Generally, distributions are paid to its partners in proportion 
to their percentage interest in AAP. The following table details the distributions to AAP’s partners paid during the periods indicated 
from distributions received from PAA (in millions):

The distribution paid by AAP in the first quarter of 2014 was prorated as of the date of the consummation of our IPO, such 
that the owners of AAP prior to our IPO received the portion of the distribution attributable to the period prior to our IPO, and 
the owners of AAP at the date of record of January 31, 2014, including us, received the portion of the distribution attributable 
to the period beginning on the date of the IPO through the end of the fourth quarter of 2013.

Represents distributions paid by AAP to our predecessor, GP LLC, prior to our IPO.

On February 12, 2016, AAP distributed $151 million of the distributions received from PAA, net of cash reserves of $4 
million, to its partners. Of this amount, $96 million was distributed to noncontrolling interests and $55 million was distributed to us.

In September 2013, the AAP credit agreement was amended to increase the amount of the term loan by $300 million. Upon 
receipt, the net term loan proceeds of $299 million were distributed to AAP’s limited partners, excluding AAP Management Unit 
holders, and GPLLC in proportion to their respective ownership interests.

Other Distributions. During each of the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, distributions of $3 million were 
paid to noncontrolling interests in SLC Pipeline LLC. During the year ended December 31, 2013, distributions of $46 million were 
paid to noncontrolling interests in PNG.

Issuance of Units by Subsidiaries

PAA Common Unit Issuances. PAA has entered into several equity distribution agreements under its Continuous Offering 
Program, pursuant to which PAA may offer and sell, through sales agents, common units representing limited partner interests. In 
addition to its Continuous Offering Program, PAA may sell common units through overnight or underwritten offerings.
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Distributions Paid Distributions per
Year Common Unitholders AAP Total common unit
2015 $ 1,081 $ 590 $ 1,671 $ 2.755
2014 $ 934 $ 473 $ 1,407 $ 2.550
2013 $ 791 $ 369 $ 1,160 $ 2.325

Distributions to AAP’s Partners
Distributions Received Cash Noncontrolling

Year by AAP from PAA Reserves Total Interests PAGP
2015 $ 590 $ (14) $ 576 $ 380 $ 196

2014 $ 473 $ (14) $ 459 $ 368 $ 91
2013 $ 369 $ (8) $ 361 $ 358 $ 3

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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The following table summarizes PAA’s issuance of common units in connection with its Continuous Offering Program and 
underwritten offerings during the periods indicated (net proceeds in millions):

Amounts are net of costs associated with the offerings.

PAA pays commissions to sales agents in connection with common unit issuances under its Continuous Offering Program. 
PAA paid $1 million, $9 million and $5 million of such commissions during 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

PAA Preferred Unit Issuance. In January 2016, PAA completed the private placement of approximately 61.0 million 
Series A Convertible Preferred Units representing limited partner interests in PAA (the “PAA preferred units”), for a cash purchase 
price of $26.25 per unit (the “Issue Price”), resulting in total net proceeds, after deducting offering expenses and the 2% transaction 
fee due to the purchasers, of approximately $1.6 billion. Certain of the purchasers or their affiliates are related parties. See Note 14 for 
additional information.

The PAA preferred units are a new class of equity security in PAA that rank senior to all classes or series of equity securities 
in PAA with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. The holders of the PAA preferred units will receive quarterly 
distributions, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, equal to an annual rate of 8% of the Issue Price ($2.10 per unit 
annualized). AAP will be entitled to participate in distributions on the PAA preferred units equal to its 2% general partner interest.

PNG Unit Issuances. PNG issued approximately 1.9 million common units during the year ended December 31, 2013. As a 
result of PNG’s common unit issuances, we recorded an increase in noncontrolling interest of $40 million in 2013.

Contributions from Noncontrolling Interests

Contributions from noncontrolling interests consists of contributions from the owners of AAP (other than us) to reimburse 
AAP for its capital contribution required to maintain its indirect 2% general partner interest in PAA following PAA’s issuance of 
common units.

Note 11—Derivatives and Risk Management Activities

We identify the risks that underlie our core business activities and use risk management strategies to mitigate those risks 
when we determine that there is value in doing so.  Our policy is to use derivative instruments for risk management purposes and not 
for the purpose of speculating on hydrocarbon commodity (referred to herein as “commodity”) price changes.  We use various 
derivative instruments to (i) manage our exposure to commodity price risk, as well as to optimize our profits, (ii) manage our exposure 
to interest rate risk and (iii) manage our exposure to currency exchange rate risk.  Our commodity risk management policies and 
procedures are designed to help ensure that our hedging activities address our risks by monitoring our derivative positions, as well as 
physical volumes, grades, locations, delivery schedules and storage capacity.  Our interest rate and currency exchange rate risk 
management policies and procedures are designed to monitor our derivative positions and ensure that those positions are consistent 
with our objectives and approved strategies.  When we apply hedge accounting, our policy is to formally document all relationships 
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk management objectives for undertaking the hedge.  This process 
includes specific identification of the hedging instrument and the hedged transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the 
hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed.  Both at the inception of the hedge and throughout the hedging relationship, we 
assess whether the derivatives employed are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of anticipated hedged transactions.

Commodity Price Risk Hedging

Our core business activities involve certain commodity price-related risks that we manage in various ways, including through 
the use of derivative instruments.  Our policy is to (i) only purchase inventory for which we have a market, (ii) structure our sales 
contracts so that price fluctuations do not materially affect our operating income and (iii) not acquire and hold physical inventory or
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Year Type of Offering Units Issued Net Proceeds 
2015 Continuous Offering Program 1,133,904 $ 58
2015 Underwritten Offering 21,000,000 1,041

2015 Total 22,133,904 $ 1,099

2014 Total Continuous Offering Program 15,375,810 $ 848

2013 Total Continuous Offering Program 8,644,807 $ 468

(1)

(2)

(2)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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derivatives for the purpose of speculating on commodity price changes.  The material commodity-related risks inherent in our business 
activities can be divided into the following general categories:

Commodity Purchases and Sales — In the normal course of our operations, we purchase and sell commodities.  We use 
derivatives to manage the associated risks and to optimize profits.  As of December 31, 2015, net derivative positions related to these 
activities included:

An average of 92,100 barrels per day net long position (total of 2.9 million barrels) associated with our crude oil 
purchases, which was unwound ratably during January 2016 to match monthly average pricing.

A net short time spread position averaging 11,500 barrels per day (total of 5.6 million barrels), which hedges a portion of 
our anticipated crude oil lease gathering purchases through April 2017.

An average of 8,000 barrels per day (total of 3.7 million barrels) of crude oil grade spread positions through 
December 2016. These derivatives allow us to lock in grade basis differentials.

A net short position of 18.9 Bcf through May 2016 related to anticipated sales of natural gas inventory and base gas 
requirements.

A net short position of 29.7 million barrels through January 2018 related to anticipated net sales of our crude oil and 
NGL inventory.

Pipeline Loss Allowance Oil — As is common in the pipeline transportation industry, our tariffs incorporate a loss allowance 
factor that is intended to, among other things, offset losses due to evaporation, measurement and other losses in transit.  We utilize 
derivative instruments to hedge a portion of the anticipated sales of the allowance oil that is to be collected under our tariffs.  As of 
December 31, 2015, our material PLA hedges included a long call option position of approximately 1.6 million barrels through 
December 2018.

Natural Gas Processing/NGL Fractionation — We purchase natural gas for processing and operational needs. Additionally, 
we purchase NGL mix for fractionation and sell the resulting individual specification products (including ethane, propane, butane and 
condensate).  In conjunction with these activities, we hedge the price risk associated with the purchase of the natural gas and the 
subsequent sale of the individual specification products.  As of December 31, 2015, we had a long natural gas position of 5.7 Bcf 
through December 2016, a short propane position of 1.2 million barrels through December 2016, a short butane position of 0.4 million 
barrels through December 2016 and a short WTI position of 0.1 million barrels through December 2016. In addition, we had a long 
power position of 0.4 million megawatt hours which hedges a portion of our power supply requirements at our Canadian natural gas 
processing and fractionation plants through December 2018.

 Physical commodity contracts that meet the definition of a derivative but are ineligible, or not designated, for the normal 
purchases and normal sales scope exception are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in 
earnings. We have determined that substantially all of our physical commodity contracts qualify for the normal purchases and normal 
sales scope exception.

Interest Rate Risk Hedging

We use interest rate derivatives to hedge interest rate risk associated with anticipated and outstanding interest payments 
occurring as a result of debt issuances.  The derivative instruments we use to manage this risk consist of forward starting interest rate 
swaps and treasury locks.  As of December 31, 2015, AOCI includes deferred losses of $183 million that relate to open and terminated 
interest rate derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges.  The terminated interest rate derivatives were cash-settled in 
connection with the issuance or refinancing of debt agreements.  The deferred loss related to these instruments is being amortized to 
interest expense over the terms of the hedged debt instruments.
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We have entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge the underlying benchmark interest rate related to 
forecasted interest payments through 2049. The following table summarizes the terms of our forward starting interest rate swaps as of 
December 31, 2015 (notional amounts in millions):

The following table summarizes activity related to terminated interest rate derivatives (all of which were designated as cash 
flow hedges) for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (notional amounts and cash received/(paid) in millions):

Currency Exchange Rate Risk Hedging

Because a significant portion of our Canadian business is conducted in CAD and, at times, a portion of our debt is 
denominated in CAD, we use foreign currency derivatives to minimize the risk of unfavorable changes in exchange rates.  These 
instruments include foreign currency exchange contracts and forwards.

As of December 31, 2015, our outstanding foreign currency derivatives include derivatives we use to (i) hedge currency 
exchange risk associated with USD-denominated commodity purchases and sales in Canada and (ii) hedge currency exchange risk 
created by the use of USD-denominated commodity derivatives to hedge commodity price risk associated with CAD-denominated 
commodity purchases and sales.

The following table summarizes our open forward exchange contracts as of December 31, 2015 (in millions):

Summary of Financial Impact

We record all open derivatives on the balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. Changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.  For derivatives that qualify 
as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value of the effective portion of the hedges are deferred in AOCI and recognized in earnings in 
the periods during which the underlying physical transactions are recognized in earnings. Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting and the portion of cash flow hedges that are not highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items are 
recognized in earnings each period. Cash settlements associated with our derivative activities are classified within the same category 
as the related hedged item in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Hedged Transaction
Number and Types of
Derivatives Employed

Notional
Amount

Expected
Termination Date

Average Rate
Locked

Accounting
Treatment

Anticipated interest payments 8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2016 3.06% Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest payments 8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2017 3.14% Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest payments 8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2018 3.20% Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest payments 8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/14/2019 2.83% Cash flow hedge

Hedged Transaction
Number and Types of

Derivatives Terminated
Notional
Amount

Cash
Received/(Paid)

Average Rate
Locked

August 2015 PAA senior note issuance 10 forward starting swaps (30-year) $ 250 $ (31) 3.60%
August 2015 PAA senior note issuance 7 forward starting swaps (30-year) $ 250 $ (21) 3.03%
April 2014 PAA senior note issuance 5 treasury lock agreements $ 250 $ (7) 3.62%
August 2013 PAA senior note issuance 5 forward starting swaps (30-year) $ 125 $ 11 3.39%

USD CAD
Average Exchange Rate

USD to CAD
Forward exchange contracts that exchange CAD for USD:

2016 $ 150 $ 207 $1.00 - $1.38

Forward exchange contracts that exchange USD for CAD:
2016 $ 219 $ 291 $1.00 - $1.33
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A summary of the impact of our derivative activities recognized in earnings for the periods indicated is as follows (in 
millions):
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Year Ended December 31, 2015

Location of Gain/(Loss)

Derivatives in 
Hedging 

Relationships

Derivatives
Not Designated 

as a Hedge Total
Commodity Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ 56 $ 152 $ 208

Transportation segment revenues — 8 8

Field operating costs — (18) (18)

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest expense (11) — (11)

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues — (31) (31)

Total Gain/(Loss) on Derivatives Recognized in Net Income $ 45 $ 111 $ 156

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Location of Gain/(Loss)

Derivatives in 
Hedging 

Relationships

Derivatives
Not Designated 

as a Hedge Total
Commodity Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ (1) $ 206 $ 205

Field operating costs — (21) (21)

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest expense (5) — (5)

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues — (28) (28)

Other income/(expense), net 2 — 2

Total Gain/(Loss) on Derivatives Recognized in Net Income $ (4) $ 157 $ 153
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The following table summarizes the derivative assets and liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets on a gross basis as of 
December 31, 2015 (in millions):
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Year Ended December 31, 2013

Location of Gain/(Loss)

Derivatives in 
Hedging 

Relationships

Derivatives
Not Designated 

as a Hedge Total
Commodity Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ 77 $ (116) $ (39)

Facilities segment revenues (11) — (11)

Field operating costs — 8 8

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest expense (4) — (4)

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Other income/(expense), net 5 — 5

Total Gain/(Loss) on Derivatives Recognized in Net Income $ 67 $ (108) $ (41)

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value Location Value
Derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments:
Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 4 Other current assets $ (2)

Interest rate derivatives Other long-term assets, net 1 Other current liabilities (17)
Other long-term liabilities and 

deferred credits (33)
Total derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments $ 5 $ (52)

Derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments:

Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 265 Other current assets $ (35)
Other long-term assets, net 10 Other long-term assets, net (1)

Other current liabilities (13)
Other long-term liabilities and 

deferred credits (1)

Foreign currency derivatives Other current liabilities (8)
Total derivatives not designated as 

hedging instruments $ 275 $ (58)

Total derivatives $ 280 $ (110)
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The following table summarizes the derivative assets and liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets on a gross basis as of 
December 31, 2014 (in millions):

Our derivative transactions are governed through ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association) master agreements 
and clearing brokerage agreements. These agreements include stipulations regarding the right of set off in the event that we or our 
counterparty default on performance obligations. If a default were to occur, both parties have the right to net amounts payable and 
receivable into a single net settlement between parties.

Our accounting policy is to offset derivative assets and liabilities executed with the same counterparty when a master netting 
arrangement exists.  Accordingly, we also offset derivative assets and liabilities with amounts associated with cash margin.  Our 
exchange-traded derivatives are transacted through clearing brokerage accounts and are subject to margin requirements as established 
by the respective exchange.  On a daily basis, our account equity (consisting of the sum of our cash balance and the fair value of our 
open derivatives) is compared to our initial margin requirement resulting in the payment or return of variation margin. As of 
December 31, 2015, we had a net broker payable of $156 million (consisting of initial margin of $91 million reduced by $247 million 
of variation margin that had been returned to us).  As of December 31, 2014, we had a net broker payable of $133 million (consisting 
of initial margin of $126 million reduced by $259 million of variation margin that had been returned to us).
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Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value Location Value
Derivatives designated as 

hedging instruments:
Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 23 Other current assets $ (12)

Other long-term assets, net 8 Other long-term assets, net (1)

Interest rate derivatives Other current liabilities (44)
Other long-term liabilities and 

deferred credits (26)
Total derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments $ 31 $ (83)

Derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments:

Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 439 Other current assets $ (246)
Other long-term assets, net 23 Other long-term assets, net (3)

Other current liabilities (35)
Other long-term liabilities and 

deferred credits (5)

Foreign currency derivatives Other current liabilities (12)
Total derivatives not designated 

as hedging instruments $ 462 $ (301)

Total derivatives $ 493 $ (384)
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The following table presents information about derivative financial assets and liabilities that are subject to offsetting, 
including enforceable master netting arrangements as of the dates indicated (in millions):

As of December 31, 2015, there was a net loss of $203 million deferred in AOCI.  The deferred net loss recorded in AOCI is 
expected to be reclassified to future earnings contemporaneously with (i) the earnings recognition of the underlying hedged 
commodity transaction or (ii) interest expense accruals associated with underlying debt instruments. Of the total net loss deferred in 
AOCI at December 31, 2015, we expect to reclassify a net loss of $3 million to earnings in the next twelve months.  The remaining 
deferred loss of $200 million is expected to be reclassified to earnings through 2049. A portion of these amounts is based on market 
prices as of December 31, 2015; thus, actual amounts to be reclassified will differ and could vary materially as a result of changes in 
market conditions.

The net deferred gain/(loss), including tax effects, recognized in AOCI for derivatives for the periods indicated was as 
follows (in millions):

At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, none of our outstanding derivatives contained credit-risk related contingent 
features that would result in a material adverse impact to us upon any change in our credit ratings.  Although we may be required to 
post margin on our cleared derivatives as described above, we do not require our non-cleared derivative counterparties to post 
collateral with us.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted 
for at fair value on a recurring basis as of the dates indicated (in millions):

Derivative assets and liabilities are presented above on a net basis but do not include related cash margin deposits.
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative

Asset Positions Liability Positions Asset Positions Liability Positions
Netting Adjustments:
Gross position - asset/(liability) $ 280 $ (110) $ 493 $ (384)
Netting adjustment (38) 38 (262) 262
Cash collateral received (156) — (133) —
Net position - asset/(liability) $ 86 $ (72) $ 98 $ (122)

Balance Sheet Location After Netting Adjustments:
Other current assets $ 76 $ — $ 71 $ —
Other long-term assets, net 10 — 27 —
Other current liabilities — (38) — (91)
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits — (34) — (31)

$ 86 $ (72) $ 98 $ (122)

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Commodity derivatives, net $ 33 $ 15 $ 37
Interest rate derivatives, net (32) (103) 73
Foreign currency derivatives, net — 2 —

Total $ 1 $ (86) $ 110

Fair Value as of December 31, 2015 Fair Value as of December 31, 2014
Recurring Fair Value Measures Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Commodity derivatives $ 126 $ 90 $ 11 $ 227 $ (85) $ 261 $ 15 $ 191
Interest rate derivatives — (49) — (49) — (70) — (70)
Foreign currency derivatives — (8) — (8) — (12) — (12)

Total net derivative asset/(liability) $ 126 $ 33 $ 11 $ 170 $ (85) $ 179 $ 15 $ 109

(1)

(1)
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Level 1

Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy includes exchange-traded commodity derivatives such as futures and options.  The fair 
value of exchange-traded commodity derivatives is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2

Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy includes exchange-cleared commodity derivatives and over-the-counter commodity, 
interest rate and foreign currency derivatives that are traded in active markets. In addition, it includes certain physical 
commodity contracts. The fair value of these derivatives is based on broker price quotations which are corroborated with 
market observable inputs.

Level 3

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy includes certain physical commodity contracts. The fair value of our Level 3 physical 
commodity contracts is based on a valuation model utilizing broker-quoted forward commodity prices, and timing estimates, 
which involve management judgment. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of our Level 3 
derivatives are forward prices obtained from brokers.  A significant increase or decrease in these forward prices could result 
in a material change in fair value to our Level 3 derivatives. We report unrealized gains and losses associated with Level 3 
commodity derivatives in our Consolidated Statements of Operations as Supply and Logistics segment revenues.

To the extent any transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy occur, our policy is to reflect these transfers as of the 
beginning of the reporting period in which they occurred.

Rollforward of Level 3 Net Asset/(Liability)

The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in fair value of the beginning and ending balances for our 
derivatives classified as Level 3 for the periods indicated (in millions):

Note 12—Income Taxes

Income tax expense is estimated using the tax rate in effect or to be in effect during the relevant periods in the jurisdictions in 
which we operate. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the basis of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually 
paid or recovered. To the extent we do not consider it more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, a valuation 
allowance is established.  Changes in tax legislation are included in the relevant computations in the period in which such changes are 
effective. We review contingent tax liabilities for estimated exposures on a more likely than not standard related to our current tax 
positions.

Pursuant to FASB guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, we must recognize the tax benefit from an 
uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing 
authorities, based on the technical merits of the tax position and also the past administrative practices and precedents of the taxing 
authority. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had not recognized any material amounts in connection with uncertainty in income 
taxes.

U.S. Federal and State Taxes

Although we are organized as a limited partnership, we have elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes and are therefore subject to both U. S. federal and state income taxes.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014

Beginning Balance $ 15 $ (3)
Gains for the period included in earnings 1 —
Settlements (14) 3
Derivatives entered into during the period 9 15

Ending Balance $ 11 $ 15

Change in unrealized gains included in earnings relating to Level 3 derivatives still held at the 
end of the period $ 10 $ 15
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Canadian Federal and Provincial Taxes

All of our Canadian operations are conducted by entities that are treated as corporations for Canadian tax purposes (flow 
through for U.S. tax purposes) and that are subject to Canadian federal and provincial taxes. Additionally, payments of interest and 
dividends from our Canadian entities to other Plains entities are subject to Canadian withholding tax that is treated as income tax 
expense.

Tax Components

Components of income tax expense for the periods indicated are as follows (in millions):

The difference between income tax expense based on the statutory federal income tax rate and our effective income tax 
expense is summarized for the periods indicated as follows (in millions):
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Current income tax expense:
State income tax $ 1 $ 1 $ 1
Canadian federal and provincial income tax 83 70 99

Total current income tax expense $ 84 $ 71 $ 100

Deferred income tax expense/(benefit):
Federal income tax $ 75 $ 38 $ 7
State income tax 7 3 —
Canadian federal and provincial income tax 16 100 (1)

Total deferred income tax expense $ 98 $ 141 $ 6
Total income tax expense $ 182 $ 212 $ 106

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Income before tax $ 991 $ 1,540 $ 1,480
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (691) (1,258) (1,359)
Income taxes attributable to noncontrolling interests (100) (171) (99)

$ 200 $ 111 $ 22
Federal statutory income tax rate 35% 35% 35%
Income tax at statutory rate $ 70 $ 39 $ 8

Federal benefit of state income tax $ (3) $ (1) $ (1)
Deferred tax rate adjustment 8 — —
State income tax 7 3 —
Income taxes attributable to noncontrolling interests:

Canadian federal and provincial income tax $ 85 $ 154 $ 79
Canadian withholding tax 14 16 19
State income tax 1 1 1

Total income tax expense $ 182 $ 212 $ 106
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are aggregated by the applicable tax paying entity and jurisdiction and result from the 
following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

In connection with the transfer of the ownership interest in AAP in connection with our IPO in October 2013 and subsequent 
transfers in 2013, 2014 and 2015, a deferred tax asset was created. These transfers of ownership were accounted for at the historical 
carrying basis for GAAP accounting purposes, but were recorded at the fair market value of the Class A shares at the time of exchange 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The resulting basis difference resulted in a deferred tax asset that was recorded as a component 
of partners’ capital as it results from transactions among shareholders. The deferred tax asset is amortized to deferred income tax 
expense as the associated basis step-up is realized on our tax returns.

As of December 31, 2015, we had net operating loss carryforwards for (i) U.S. federal income tax purposes of $264 million, 
which will expire from 2033 to 2035, (ii) state income tax purposes of $90 million, which will expire from 2018 to 2035, and 
(iii) foreign income tax purposes of $11 million, which will expire from 2034 to 2035. As of December 31, 2015, we had foreign tax 
credits for U.S. federal income tax purposes of $6 million, which will expire in 2024.

Generally, tax returns for our Canadian entities are open to audit from 2008 through 2015. Our U.S. and state tax years are 
generally open to examination from 2012 to 2015.

Note 13—Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

Marathon Petroleum Corporation and its subsidiaries accounted for 17%, 17% and 15% of our revenues for the years ended 
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. ExxonMobil Corporation and its subsidiaries accounted for 13%, 15% and 13% of 
our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Phillips 66 and its subsidiaries accounted for 11% 
of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. No other customers accounted for 10% or more of our revenues during any of 
the three years ended December 31, 2015. The majority of revenues from these customers pertain to our supply and logistics 
operations. The sales to these customers occur at multiple locations and we believe that the loss of these customers would have only a 
short-term impact on our operating results. There is risk, however, that we would not be able to identify and access a replacement 
market at comparable margins.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receivables. Our 
accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers and shippers of crude oil and, to a lesser extent, purchasers of NGL and natural gas. 
This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk in that the customers may be similarly 
affected by changes in economic, industry or other conditions. We review credit exposure and financial information of our 
counterparties and generally require letters of credit for receivables from customers that are not considered creditworthy, unless the 
credit risk can otherwise be reduced. See Note 2 for additional discussion of our accounts receivable and our review of credit 
exposure.
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December 31,
2015 2014

Deferred tax assets:
Investment in partnerships $ 1,730 $ 1,651
Net operating losses 105 54
Book accruals in excess of current tax deductions 20 29

Total deferred tax assets 1,855 1,734

Deferred tax liabilities:
Derivative instruments (30) (71)
Property and equipment in excess of tax values (312) (322)
Other (41) (49)

Total deferred tax liabilities (383) (442)
Net deferred tax assets $ 1,472 $ 1,292

Balance sheet classification of deferred tax assets/(liabilities):
Deferred tax asset $ 1,835 $ 1,705
Other current liabilities — (64)
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits (363) (349)

$ 1,472 $ 1,292
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Note 14—Related Party Transactions

Transactions with Oxy

As of December 31, 2015, Oxy owned approximately 13% of the limited partner interests in AAP and had a representative on 
the board of directors of GP LLC and our general partner. During the three years ended December 31, 2015, we recognized sales and 
transportation revenues and purchased petroleum products from Oxy. These transactions were conducted at posted tariff rates or prices 
that we believe approximate market. A portion of these transactions was conducted under a crude oil buy/sell agreement that includes 
a multi-year minimum volume commitment. The impact to our Consolidated Statements of Operations from those transactions is 
included below (in millions):

Purchases and related costs include crude oil buy/sell transactions that are accounted for as inventory exchanges and are 
presented net in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We currently have a netting arrangement with Oxy. Our gross receivable and payable amounts with Oxy on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets were as follows as of the dates indicated (in millions):

In November 2014, we purchased Oxy’s 50% interest in BridgeTex. See Note 7 for further discussion. Also in 
November 2014, Oxy exercised its Exchange Right, pursuant to which Oxy received 69,000,000 Class A shares in exchange for an 
equal number of Class B shares, general partner units and AAP units. Immediately following the exercise of the Exchange Right, we 
completed an underwritten secondary public offering of the Class A shares received by Oxy. We did not receive any of the proceeds 
from the offering.

Transactions with Equity Method Investees

We also have transactions with companies in which we hold an investment accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting (see Note 7 for information related to these investments). We recorded revenues of $17 million, $3 million and $33 million 
during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. During the three years ended December 31, 2015, we 
utilized transportation services and purchased petroleum products provided by these companies. Costs related to these services totaled 
$164 million, $75 million and $79 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These transactions 
were conducted at posted tariff rates or contracted rates or prices that we believe approximate market. Receivables from our equity 
method investees totaled $14 million at December 31, 2015 and less than $1 million at December 31, 2014. Accounts payable to our 
equity method investees were $25 million and $6 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

In addition, we have an agreement to transport crude oil at posted tariff rates on a pipeline that is owned by an equity method 
investee, in which we own a 50% interest.  Our commitment to transport is supported by crude oil buy/sell agreements with third 
parties (including Oxy) with commensurate quantities.

PAA Preferred Unit Issuance

In January 2016, PAA completed a private placement of preferred units. Certain of the purchasers of the PAA preferred units 
or their affiliates are related parties. Kayne Anderson Capital Advisors, L.P. and certain of its affiliates and an affiliate of The Energy 
Minerals Group hold ownership interests in AAP. In addition, certain of the current directors of GP LLC and our general partner are 
affiliated with certain of the purchasers. See Note 10 for additional information.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Revenues $ 866 $ 1,212 $ 1,309

Purchases and related costs $ 41 $ 925 $ 863

December 31,
2015 2014

Trade accounts receivable and other receivables $ 405 $ 489

Accounts payable $ 363 $ 441

(1)

(1)
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Note 15—Equity-Indexed Compensation Plans

PAGP Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

In connection with our IPO in October 2013, our general partner adopted the PAGP LTIP, which is intended to align the 
interests of employees and directors with those of our shareholders by providing such employees and directors incentive compensation 
awards that reward achievement of targeted distribution levels and other business objectives. The PAGP LTIP provides for awards of 
options, restricted shares, phantom shares and share appreciation rights. Certain awards may also include distribution equivalent rights 
(“DERs”), which, subject to applicable vesting criteria, entitle the grantee to a cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on an 
outstanding Class A share. The PAGP LTIP authorizes the issuance of up to 10 million Class A shares deliverable upon vesting. In 
February 2014, an aggregate of 83,200 phantom Class A shares were issued to our directors. These awards vest annually in 
February in 25% increments and have an automatic re-grant feature such that as they vest, an equivalent amount is granted.

Activity for awards under the PAGP LTIP is summarized in the following table for the periods indicated (shares in millions):

During the year ended December 31, 2015, less than 0.1 million PAGP LTIP awards were granted under the automatic re-
grant feature for awards issued to our directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, less than 0.1 million PAGP LTIP awards vested. These awards were settled in 
Class A shares.

PAA Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

Plains All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan. In November 2013, PAA’s common unitholders approved the Plains 
All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PAA 2013 LTIP”), which consolidated PAA’s three previous long-term incentive 
plans (the Plains All American GP LLC 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, the Plains All American 2005 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan, as amended, and the Plains All American PPX Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended) into a single plan. 
The PAA 2013 LTIP authorizes the issuance of an aggregate of approximately 13.1 million PAA common units deliverable upon 
vesting. Although other types of awards are contemplated under the PAA 2013 LTIP, currently outstanding awards are limited to 
“phantom units,” which mature into the right to receive common units of PAA (or cash equivalent) upon vesting. Some awards also 
include DERs, which, subject to applicable vesting criteria, entitle the grantee to a cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on 
an outstanding PAA common unit.

Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan. In conjunction with the PNG Merger on December 31, 2013, 
PAA’s general partner adopted and assumed the PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PNG 2010 
LTIP”) and changed the plan name to the Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PNG Successor 
LTIP”). Additionally, as a result of the PNG Merger, outstanding awards of PNG phantom units issued under the PNG 2010 LTIP 
were converted into comparable awards of phantom units representing the right to receive PAA common units by applying the Merger 
Exchange Ratio to each outstanding phantom unit and rounding down to the nearest PAA phantom unit for any fractions. See Note 1 
for further discussion of the PNG Merger. The PNG Successor LTIP authorizes the issuance of an aggregate of 1.3 million PAA 
common units deliverable upon vesting. Although other types of awards are contemplated under the PNG Successor LTIP, currently 
outstanding awards are limited to “phantom units,” which mature into the right to receive common units of PAA (or cash equivalent) 
upon vesting. Some awards also include DERs, which, subject to applicable vesting criteria, entitle the grantee to a cash payment 
equal to the cash distribution paid on an outstanding PAA common unit.

Plains All American GP LLC 2006 Long-Term Incentive Tracking Unit Plan. PAA’s general partner has adopted the Plains 
All American GP LLC 2006 Long-Term Incentive Tracking Unit Plan (the “2006 Plan”) for non-officer employees. The 2006 Plan 
authorizes the grant of approximately 4.2 million “tracking units” which, upon vesting, represent the right to receive a cash payment in 
an amount based upon the market value of a PAA common unit at the time of vesting.
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Weighted Average
Grant Date

PAGP Shares Fair Value per Share
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 — $ —

Granted 0.1 $ 27.84
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 0.1 $ 27.84

Granted — $ 27.84
Vested — $ 27.84

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 0.1 $ 27.84

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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At December 31, 2015, the following LTIP awards, denominated in PAA units, were outstanding (units in millions):

Approximately 2.7 million of the 6.9 million outstanding PAA LTIP awards also include DERs, of which 2.4 million had 
vested as of December 31, 2015.

LTIP units outstanding do not include AAP Management Units or PAGP LTIP awards.

These LTIP awards have performance conditions requiring the attainment of an annualized PAA distribution of between 
$2.075 and $3.30 and vest upon the later of a certain date or the attainment of such levels. If the performance conditions are 
not attained while the grantee remains employed by us, or the grantee does not meet employment requirements, these awards 
will be forfeited. For purposes of this disclosure, vesting dates are based on an estimate of future distribution levels and 
assume that all grantees remain employed by us through the vesting date. As of December 31, 2015, a distribution of $2.90 
per PAA common unit was deemed probable of occurring in the reasonably foreseeable future (and was initially determined 
to be probable in the fourth quarter of 2014).

The achievement of the applicable performance conditions (distributions greater than $2.90 per PAA common unit) was not 
deemed to be probable as of December 31, 2015 and, therefore, no expense has been recognized related to these awards.

PAA’s LTIP awards include both liability-classified and equity-classified awards. In accordance with FASB guidance 
regarding share-based payments, the fair value of liability-classified LTIP awards is calculated based on the closing market price of 
the underlying PAA unit at each balance sheet date and adjusted for the present value of any distributions that are estimated to occur 
on the underlying units over the vesting period that will not be received by the award recipients. The fair value of equity-classified 
LTIP awards is calculated based on the closing market price of the underlying PAA unit on the respective grant dates and adjusted for 
the present value of any distributions that are estimated to occur on the underlying units over the vesting period that will not be 
received by the award recipient. This fair value is recognized as compensation expense over the service period.

PAA’s LTIP awards typically contain performance conditions based on the attainment of certain PAA annualized distribution 
levels and vest upon the later of a certain date or the attainment of such levels.  For awards with performance conditions (such as 
distribution targets), expense is accrued over the service period only if the performance condition is considered probable of occurring.  
When awards with performance conditions that were previously considered improbable become probable, we incur additional expense 
in the period that the probability assessment changes.  This is necessary to bring the accrued obligation associated with these awards 
up to the level it would be if we had been accruing for these awards since the grant date.  DER awards typically contain performance 
conditions based on the attainment of certain PAA annualized distribution levels and become earned upon the attainment of such 
levels.  The DERs terminate with the vesting or forfeiture of the underlying LTIP award.  For liability-classified awards, we recognize 
DER payments in the period the payment is earned as compensation expense.  For equity-classified awards, we recognize DER 
payments in the period they are paid as a reduction of noncontrolling interest in partners’ capital.

Our accrued liability at December 31, 2015 related to all outstanding liability-classified PAA LTIP awards and DERs was 
$33 million, of which $20 million was classified as short-term and $13 million was classified as long-term. These short- and long-term 
accrued LTIP liabilities are reflected in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities and deferred 
credits,” respectively, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These liabilities include accruals associated with our assessment that an 
annualized PAA distribution of $2.90 per unit is probable of occurring in the reasonably foreseeable future (which was initially 
determined to be probable in the fourth quarter of 2014). At December 31, 2014, the accrued liability was $101 million, of which $57 
million was classified as short-term and $44 million was classified as long-term.
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PAA PAA Probable Awards Not Yet
LTIP Units Distribution Estimated Unit Vesting Date Probable

Outstanding Required 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter Total Awards
6.9 $ 2.075-$3.300 1.9 1.5 1.0 0.8 0.5 5.7 1.2

(1) (2) (3)  (4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)



Table of Contents

Activity for LTIP awards under our equity-indexed compensation plans denominated in PAA and PNG units is summarized 
in the following table for the periods indicated (units in millions):

Amounts do not include AAP Management Units or PAGP LTIP awards.

Approximately 0.5 million, 0.6 million and 0.5 million PAA common units were issued, net of tax withholding of 
approximately 0.3 million, 0.3 million and 0.3 million units during 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, in connection with the 
settlement of vested awards. The remaining PAA awards (approximately 1.3 million, 1.0 million and 1.0 million units) that 
vested during 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, were settled in cash.

Less than 0.1 million PNG units vested during the year ended December 31, 2013.

The unvested portion of grants of PNG phantom unit awards other than those granted under the PNG 2010 LTIP was 
surrendered on December 31, 2013 in connection with the closing of the PNG Merger.

As a result of the PNG Merger on December 31, 2013, outstanding awards of PNG phantom units issued under the PNG 2010 
LTIP were converted into comparable awards of PAA phantom units representing the right to receive PAA common units by 
applying the Merger Exchange Ratio to each outstanding PNG phantom unit and rounding down to the nearest PAA phantom 
unit for any fractions.

AAP Management Units

In August 2007, the owners of AAP authorized the issuance of AAP Management Units (a profits interest) in order to provide 
additional long-term incentives and encourage retention for certain members of our senior management. AAP Management Units 
become earned in various increments upon the achievement of certain performance thresholds related to achievement of targeted PAA 
distribution levels. As of December 31, 2015, 2.2 million AAP Management Units were unearned; however, these unearned AAP 
Management Units will become earned in 25% increments upon or 180 days after the achievement of annualized PAA distribution 
levels of between $2.85 and $3.50. When earned, the AAP Management Units are entitled to participate in distributions paid by AAP 
in excess of $11 million (as adjusted for debt service costs and excluding special distributions funded by debt) per quarter. Up to 
approximately 52.1 million AAP Management Units are authorized for issuance. Assuming all 52.1 million AAP Management Units 
were granted and earned, the maximum participation would be approximately 8% of AAP’s distribution in excess of $11 million (as 
adjusted) each quarter.

Additionally, beginning after December 31, 2015, a holder of vested AAP Management Units will be entitled to convert his 
or her AAP Management Units into AAP units and a like number of our Class B shares based on a conversion ratio calculated in 
accordance with the AAP limited partnership agreement. Following any such conversion, the holder will have the Exchange Right for 
our Class A shares. See Note 10 for additional information.
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PAA Units PNG Units
Weighted Average Weighted Average

Grant Date Grant Date
Units Fair Value per Unit Units Fair Value per Unit

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 6.0 $ 25.55 0.9 $ 17.49
Granted 4.1 $ 47.60 0.4 $ 17.51
Vested (1.8) $ 24.79 — $ 18.88
Cancelled or forfeited (0.3) $ 36.70 (0.3) $ 21.62
Conversion of PNG unit-denominated awards 

into PAA unit-denominated awards 0.4 $ 40.54 (1.0) $ 16.41
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 8.4 $ 36.97 — $ —

Granted 1.2 $ 47.68
Vested (1.9) $ 25.49
Cancelled or forfeited (0.4) $ 40.14

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 7.3 $ 41.45
Granted 2.1 $ 28.76
Vested (2.1) $ 28.91
Cancelled or forfeited (0.4) $ 44.56

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 6.9 $ 41.23

(1) (2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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The following is a summary of activity of AAP Management Units for the periods indicated (in millions):

Of the $88 million grant date fair value, $56 million had been recognized through December 31, 2015 on a cumulative basis. 
Of this amount, $1 million, $7 million and $5 million was recognized as expense during the years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013, respectively.

As the intent of the AAP Management Units is to provide a performance incentive and encourage retention for certain 
members of PAA’s senior management, we recognize the grant date fair value of the AAP Management Units as compensation 
expense over the service period, with a corresponding credit to noncontrolling interest in partners’ capital on our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Other Consolidated Equity-Indexed Compensation Plan Information

We refer to all of the LTIPs and AAP Management Units collectively as our “equity-indexed compensation plans.” The table 
below summarizes the expense recognized and the value of vested LTIP awards (settled in PAA common units, PAGP shares and 
cash) under our equity-indexed compensation plans and includes both liability-classified and equity-classified awards for the periods 
indicated (in millions):
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Reserved for
Future Grants Outstanding

Outstanding
Units Earned

Grant Date
Fair Value of Outstanding
AAP Management Units 

Balance at December 31, 2013 3.5 48.6 47.0 $ 51
Granted (0.5) 0.5 — 13
Earned N/A N/A 0.8 N/A

Balance at December 31, 2014 3.0 49.1 47.8 $ 64
Granted (1.6) 1.6 — 24
Earned N/A N/A 0.7 N/A

Balance at December 31, 2015 1.4 50.7 48.5 $ 88

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Equity-indexed compensation expense $ 27 $ 99 $ 116
LTIP unit- or share-settled vestings $ 37 $ 53 $ 48
LTIP cash-settled vestings $ 66 $ 53 $ 61
DER cash payments $ 8 $ 8 $ 8

(1)

(1)
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Based on the December 31, 2015 fair value measurement and probability assessment regarding future distributions, we 
expect to recognize $74 million of additional expense over the life of outstanding awards related to the remaining unrecognized fair 
value. Actual amounts may differ materially as a result of a change in the market price of PAA’s units and PAGP’s shares and/or 
probability assessments regarding future distributions. We estimate that the remaining fair value will be recognized in expense as 
shown below (in millions):

Amounts do not include fair value associated with awards containing performance conditions that are not considered to be 
probable of occurring at December 31, 2015.

Includes unamortized fair value associated with AAP Management Units and PAGP LTIP awards.

Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

We have commitments, some of which are leases, related to real property, equipment and operating facilities. We also incur 
costs associated with leased land, rights-of-way, permits and regulatory fees. Future non-cancelable commitments related to these 
items at December 31, 2015, are summarized below (in millions):

Includes capital and operating leases as defined by FASB guidance. Lease expense for 2015, 2014 and 2013 was 
$164 million, $145 million and $132 million, respectively.

Primarily includes third-party storage and transportation agreements and pipeline throughput agreements, as well as 
approximately $930 million associated with an agreement to transport crude oil on a pipeline that is owned by an equity 
method investee, in which we own a 50% interest. Our commitment to transport is supported by crude oil buy/sell 
agreements with third parties (including Oxy) with commensurate quantities.

Loss Contingencies — General

To the extent we are able to assess the likelihood of a negative outcome for a contingency, our assessments of such likelihood 
range from remote to probable. If we determine that a negative outcome is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable, 
we accrue an undiscounted liability equal to the estimated amount.  If a range of probable loss amounts can be reasonably estimated 
and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, then we accrue an undiscounted liability equal to the 
minimum amount in the range.  In addition, we estimate legal fees that we expect to incur associated with loss contingencies and 
accrue those costs when they are material and probable of being incurred.

We do not record a contingent liability when the likelihood of loss is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated 
or when the likelihood of loss is believed to be only reasonably possible or remote. For contingencies where an unfavorable outcome 
is reasonably possible and the impact would be material to our consolidated financial statements, we disclose the nature of the 
contingency and, where feasible, an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss.
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Year

Equity-Indexed
Compensation Plan Fair Value

Amortization 
2016 $ 37
2017 22
2018 11
2019 3
2020 1

Total $ 74

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter Total
Leases $ 200 $ 184 $ 154 $ 128 $ 108 $ 427 $ 1,201
Other commitments 150 152 133 127 129 487 1,178
Total $ 350 $ 336 $ 287 $ 255 $ 237 $ 914 $ 2,379

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Legal Proceedings — General

In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various legal proceedings, including those arising from regulatory and 
environmental matters. Although we are insured against various risks to the extent we believe it is prudent, there is no assurance that 
the nature and amount of such insurance will be adequate, in every case, to fully protect us from losses arising from current or future 
legal proceedings.

Taking into account what we believe to be all relevant known facts and circumstances, and based on what we believe to be 
reasonable assumptions regarding the application of those facts and circumstances to existing laws and regulations, we do not believe 
that the outcome of the legal proceedings in which we are currently involved (including those described below) will, individually or in 
the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental — General

Although over the course of the last several years we have made significant investments in our maintenance and integrity 
programs, and have hired additional personnel in those areas, we have experienced (and likely will experience future) releases of 
hydrocarbon products into the environment from our pipeline, rail, storage and other facility operations. These releases can result from 
accidents or from unpredictable man-made or natural forces and may reach surface water bodies, groundwater aquifers or other 
sensitive environments. Damages and liabilities associated with any such releases from our existing or future assets could be 
significant and could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We record environmental liabilities when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the amounts 
can be reasonably estimated. Generally, our recording of these accruals coincides with our completion of a feasibility study or our 
commitment to a formal plan of action. We do not discount our environmental remediation liabilities to present value. We also record 
environmental liabilities assumed in business combinations based on the estimated fair value of the environmental obligations caused 
by past operations of the acquired company. We record receivables for amounts recoverable from insurance or from third parties under 
indemnification agreements in the period that we determine the costs are probable of recovery.

Environmental expenditures that pertain to current operations or to future revenues are expensed or capitalized consistent 
with our capitalization policy for property and equipment. Expenditures that result from the remediation of an existing condition 
caused by past operations and that do not contribute to current or future profitability are expensed.

At December 31, 2015, our estimated undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities (including liabilities related to the 
Line 901 incident, as discussed further below) totaled $185 million, of which $81 million was classified as short-term and $104 
million was classified as long-term. At December 31, 2014, our estimated undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities totaled 
$82 million, of which $13 million was classified as short-term and $69 million was classified as long-term. The short- and long-term 
environmental liabilities referenced above are reflected in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities 
and deferred credits,” respectively, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had recorded 
receivables totaling $161 million and $8 million, respectively, for amounts probable of recovery under insurance and from third 
parties under indemnification agreements, which are predominantly reflected in “Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net”
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In some cases, the actual cash expenditures associated with these liabilities may not occur for three years or longer. Our 
estimates used in determining these reserves are based on information currently available to us and our assessment of the ultimate 
outcome. Among the many uncertainties that impact our estimates are the necessary regulatory approvals for, and potential 
modification of, our remediation plans, the limited amount of data available upon initial assessment of the impact of soil or water 
contamination, changes in costs associated with environmental remediation services and equipment and the possibility of existing or 
future legal claims giving rise to additional liabilities. Therefore, although we believe that the reserve is adequate, actual costs incurred 
(which may ultimately include costs for contingencies that are currently not reasonably estimable or costs for contingencies where the 
likelihood of loss is currently believed to be only reasonably possible or remote) may be in excess of the reserve and may potentially 
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Specific Legal, Environmental or Regulatory Matters

Line 901 Incident. In May 2015, we experienced a crude oil release from our Las Flores to Gaviota Pipeline (Line 901) in 
Santa Barbara County, California.  A portion of the released crude oil reached the Pacific Ocean at Refugio State Beach through a 
drainage culvert. Following the release, we shut down the pipeline and initiated our emergency response plan. A Unified Command, 
which includes the United States Coast Guard, the EPA, the California Office of Spill Prevention and Response and the Santa Barbara 
Office of Emergency Management, was established for the response effort. Clean-up and remediation operations with respect to 
impacted shoreline and other areas has been determined by the Unified Command to be complete, subject to continued shoreline 
monitoring. The cause of the release remains under investigation. Our current “worst case” estimate of the amount of oil spilled, 
representing the maximum volume of oil that we believed could have been spilled based on relevant facts, data and information, is 
approximately 2,935 barrels.

As a result of the Line 901 incident, several governmental agencies and regulators have initiated investigations into the Line 
901 incident, various claims have been made against us and a number of lawsuits have been filed against us. We may be subject to 
additional claims, investigations and lawsuits, which could materially impact the liabilities and costs we currently expect to incur as a 
result of the Line 901 incident. Set forth below is a brief summary of actions and matters that are currently pending:

On May 21, 2015, we received a corrective action order from the United States Department of Transportation’s Pipeline and 
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”), the governmental agency that has jurisdiction over the operation of Line 901 
as well as over a second stretch of pipeline extending from Gaviota Pump Station in Santa Barbara County to Emidio Pump Station in 
Kern County, California (Line 903), requiring us to shut down, purge, review, remediate and test Line 901. On June 3, 2015, the 
corrective action order was amended to require us to take additional corrective actions with respect to both Lines 901 and 903, and on 
November 13, 2015, the corrective action order was further amended to require the purge and shutdown of Line 903 between Gaviota 
and Pentland (as amended, the “CAO”). Among other requirements, the CAO also obligates us to conduct a root cause failure analysis 
with respect to Line 901 and present remedial work plans and restart plans to PHMSA prior to returning Line 901 and 903 to service; 
the CAO also imposes a pressure restriction on Line 903 and requires us to take other specified actions with respect to both Lines 901 
and 903. We intend to continue to comply with the CAO and to cooperate with any other governmental investigations relating to or 
arising out of the release. Excavation and removal of the affected section of the pipeline was completed on May 28, 2015. No timeline 
has been established for the restart of Line 901 or Line 903.  On February 17, 2016, PHMSA issued a Preliminary Factual Report of 
the Line 901 failure, which contains PHMSA’s preliminary findings regarding factual information about the events leading up to the 
accident and the technical analysis that has been conducted to date. By virtue of its statutory authority, PHMSA has the power and 
authority to impose fines and penalties on us and cause civil or criminal charges to be brought against us. While to date PHMSA has 
not imposed any such fines or penalties or pursued any such civil or criminal charges with respect to the Line 901 release, there can be 
no assurance that such fines or penalties will not be imposed upon us, or that such civil or criminal charges will not be brought against 
us, in the future.

On September 11, 2015, we received a Notice of Probable Violation and Proposed Compliance Order from PHMSA arising 
out of its inspection of Lines 901 and 903 in August, September and October of 2013 (the “2013 Audit NOPV”).  The 2013 Audit 
NOPV alleges that the Partnership committed probable violations of various federal pipeline safety regulations by failing to document, 
or inadequately documenting, certain activities.  On October 12, 2015, the Partnership filed a response to the 2013 Audit NOPV.  To 
date, PHMSA has not issued a final order with respect to the 2013 Audit NOPV, nor has it assessed any fines or penalties with respect 
thereto; however, we cannot provide any assurances that any such fines or penalties will not be assessed against us.

In late May of 2015, on behalf of the EPA, the United States Attorney for the Department of Justice, Central District of 
California, Environmental Crimes Section (“DOJ”) began an investigation into whether there were any violations of federal criminal 
statutes in connection with the Line 901 incident, including potential violations of the federal Clean Water Act. We are cooperating 
with the DOJ’s investigation by responding to their requests for documents and access to our employees. The DOJ has already spoken 
to several of our employees and has expressed an interest in talking to other employees; consistent with the terms of our governing 
organizational documents, we are funding our employees’ defense costs, including the costs of separate counsel engaged to represent 
such individuals.  In addition to the DOJ, the California Attorney General’s Office and the District Attorney’s Office for the County of 
Santa Barbara are also investigating the Line 901 incident to determine whether any applicable state or local laws have been violated.  
On August 26, 2015, we also received a Request for Information from the EPA relating to Line 901 and we are in the process of 
responding to such request.  While to date no civil or criminal charges with respect to the Line 901 release have been brought against 
PAA or any of its affiliates, officers or employees by PHMSA, DOJ, EPA, California Attorney General or Santa Barbara County 
District Attorney, and no fines or penalties have been imposed by such governmental agencies, there can be no assurance that such 
fines or penalties will not be imposed upon us, our officers or our employees, or that such civil or criminal charges will not be brought 
against us, our officers or our employees in the future, whether by those or other governmental agencies.
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Shortly following the Line 901 incident, we established a claims line and encouraged any parties that were damaged by the 

release to contact us to discuss their damage claims. We have received a number of claims through the claims line and we are 
processing those claims as we receive them. In addition, we have also had seven class action lawsuits filed against us, all of which 
have been administratively consolidated into a single proceeding in the United States District Court for the Central District of 
California. In general, the plaintiffs are seeking to establish different classes of claimants that have allegedly been damaged by the 
release, including potential classes such as persons that derive a significant portion of their income through commercial fishing and 
harvesting activities in the waters adjacent to Santa Barbara County or from businesses that are dependent on marine resources from 
Santa Barbara County, retail businesses located in historic downtown Santa Barbara, certain owners of oceanfront and/or beachfront 
property on the Pacific Coast of California, and other classes of individuals and businesses that were allegedly impacted by the 
release.

There have also been two securities law class action lawsuits filed on behalf of certain purported investors in PAA and/or 
PAGP against PAA, PAGP and/or certain of their respective officers, directors and underwriters.  Both of these lawsuits have been 
consolidated into a single proceeding in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas.  In general, these lawsuits 
allege that the various defendants violated securities laws by misleading investors regarding the integrity of PAA’s pipelines and 
related facilities through false and misleading statements, omission of material facts and concealing of the true extent of the spill.  The 
plaintiffs claim unspecified damages as a result of the reduction in value of their investments in PAA and PAGP, which they attribute 
to the alleged wrongful acts of the defendants. PAA and PAGP, and the other defendants, deny the allegations in these lawsuits and 
intend to respond accordingly. Consistent with and subject to the terms of our governing organizational documents (and to the extent 
applicable, insurance policies), we are indemnifying and funding the defense costs of our officers and directors in connection with 
these lawsuits; we are also indemnifying and funding the defense costs of our underwriters pursuant to the terms of the underwriting 
agreements we previously entered into with such underwriters.

In addition, three unitholder derivative lawsuits have been filed by certain purported investors in PAA against PAA, certain 
of its affiliates and certain officers and directors. Two of these lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern 
District of Texas and the other was filed in State District Court in Harris County, Texas. In general, these lawsuits allege that the 
various defendants breached their fiduciary duties, engaged in gross mismanagement and made false and misleading statements, 
among other similar allegations, in connection with their management and oversight of PAA during the period of time leading up to 
and following the Line 901 release. The plaintiffs claim that PAA suffered unspecified damages as a result of the actions of the 
various defendants and seek to hold the defendants liable for such damages, in addition to other remedies. The defendants deny the 
allegations in these lawsuits and intend to respond accordingly. Consistent with and subject to the terms of our governing 
organizational documents (and to the extent applicable, insurance policies), we are indemnifying and funding the defense costs of our 
officers and directors in connection with these lawsuits.

In addition to the foregoing, as the “responsible party” for the Line 901 incident we are liable for various costs and for certain 
natural resource damages under the Oil Pollution Act, and we also have exposure to the payment of additional fines, penalties and 
costs under other applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes and regulations.  To the extent any such costs are reasonably 
estimable, we have included an estimate of such costs in the loss accrual described below.

Taking the foregoing into account, as of December 31, 2015, we estimate that the aggregate total costs we have incurred or 
will incur with respect to the Line 901 incident will be approximately $269 million, which estimate includes actual and projected 
emergency response and clean-up costs, natural resource damage assessments and certain third party claims settlements, as well as 
estimates for fines, penalties and certain legal fees. This estimate considers our prior experience in environmental investigation and 
remediation matters and available data from, and in consultation with, our environmental and other specialists, as well as currently 
available facts and presently enacted laws and regulations. We have made assumptions for (i) the expected number of days that 
monitoring services will be required, (ii) the duration of the natural resource damage assessment and the ultimate amount of damages 
determined, (iii) the resolution of certain third party claims and lawsuits, but excluding claims and lawsuits with respect to which 
losses are not probable and reasonably estimable, and excluding future claims and lawsuits, (iv) the determination and calculation of 
fines and penalties, but excluding fines and penalties that are not probable and reasonably estimable and (v) the nature,  extent and 
cost of  legal services that will be required in connection with all lawsuits, claims and other matters requiring legal or expert advice 
associated with the Line 901 incident. Our estimate does not include any lost revenue associated with the shutdown of Line 901 or 903 
and does not include any liabilities or costs that are not reasonably estimable at this time or that relate to contingencies where we 
currently regard the likelihood of loss as being only reasonably possible or remote. We believe we have accrued adequate amounts for 
all probable and reasonably estimable costs; however, this estimate is subject to uncertainties associated with the assumptions that we 
have made. For example, the amount of time it takes for us to resolve all of the current and future lawsuits, claims and investigations 
that relate to the Line 901 incident could turn out to be significantly longer than we have assumed, and as a result the costs we incur 
for legal services could be significantly higher than we have estimated. In addition, with respect to fines and penalties, the ultimate 
amount of any fines and penalties assessed against us depends on a wide variety of factors, many of which are not estimable at this 
time. Where fines and penalties are probable and estimable, we have included them in our estimate, although such estimates could turn 
out to be wrong. Accordingly, our assumptions and estimates may turn out to be inaccurate and our total costs could turn out to be 
materially higher; therefore, we can provide no assurance that we will not have to accrue significant additional costs in the future with 
respect to the Line 901 incident.

We have accrued such estimate of aggregate total costs to “Field operating costs” on our Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. As of December 31, 2015, we had a remaining undiscounted gross liability of $116 million related to this event, the 
majority of which is presented as a current liability in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
We maintain insurance coverage, which is subject to certain exclusions and deductibles, in the event of such environmental liabilities. 
Subject to such exclusions and deductibles, we believe that our coverage is adequate to cover the current estimated total emergency 
response and clean-up costs, claims settlement costs and remediation costs and we believe that this coverage is also adequate to cover 
any potential increase in the estimates for these costs that exceed the amounts currently identified. Through December 31, 2015, we 
had collected, subject to customary reservations, $31 million out of the approximate $186 million of release costs that we believe are 
probable of recovery from insurance carriers, net of deductibles. We recovered an additional $69 million of proceeds from insurance 
carriers in January 2016. As of December 31, 2015, we have recognized a receivable of approximately $155 million for the portion of 
the release costs that we believe is probable of recovery from insurance, net of deductibles and amounts already collected. A majority 
of this receivable has been recognized as a current asset in “Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net” on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets with the offset reducing “Field operating costs” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations. We have substantially 
completed the clean-up and remediation efforts, excluding long-term site monitoring activities; however, we expect to make payments 
for additional costs associated with restoration and monitoring of the area, as well as natural resource damage assessment, legal, 
professional and regulatory costs, in addition to fines and penalties, during future periods.
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MP29 Release. On July 10, 2015, we experienced a crude oil release of approximately 100 barrels at our Pocahontas Pump 
Station near the border of Bond and Madison Counties in Illinois, approximately 40 miles from St. Louis, Missouri. The Pocahontas 
Station is part of the Capwood pipeline that runs from our Patoka Station to Wood River, Illinois. A portion of the released crude oil 
was contained within our Pocahontas facility, but some of the released crude oil entered a nearby waterway where it was contained 
with booms. On July 14, 2015, PHMSA issued a corrective action order requiring us to take various actions in response to the release, 
including remediation, reporting and other actions. As of December 18, 2015, we had submitted all requested information and reports 
required by the corrective action order and are currently awaiting PHMSA’s comment or approval. On August 10, 2015, we received a 
Notice of Violation from the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (the “Agency”) alleging violations relating to the release and 
outlining the activities recommended by the Agency to resolve the alleged violations, including the completion of an investigation and 
various remediation activities. The Agency approved a work plan describing remediation activities proposed for remaining 
hydrocarbons at Pocahontas Station and affected waterways.  Remediation activities under this work plan have effectively been 
completed, and on December 17, 2015, we entered into a Compliance Commitment Agreement with the Agency, which provides the 
framework for final completion and documentation of the remediation effort. To date, no fines or penalties have been assessed in this 
matter; however, it is possible that fines and penalties could be assessed in the future. In connection with this incident, we have also 
had one class action lawsuit filed against us in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Illinois, which was 
subsequently voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff. We estimate that the aggregate total costs associated with this release will be less 
than $10 million.

Cushing Tank Cathodic Protection.  On May 22, 2015, PHMSA issued a Final Order relating to an April 2013 Notice of 
Probable Violation and Proposed Compliance Order alleging that we did not maintain adequate cathodic protection for certain tanks at 
our Cushing Terminal. In its 2013 Notice of Probable Violation, PHMSA maintained that the proprietary cathodic protection system 
utilized by us for certain of our storage tanks at our Cushing, Oklahoma facility was not contemplated by applicable regulations. In 
response to the notice, we provided extensive documentation and supporting information regarding the effectiveness of the technology 
we were utilizing, including past communications with PHMSA regarding the topic. At a hearing in August 2013, we gave a formal 
presentation on the technology, provided empirical data confirming its effectiveness and also had a third party corrosion expert 
witness speak to the effectiveness of the technology. Almost two years later, PHMSA issued the Final Order and Compliance Order 
dated May 22, 2015 ruling against our position, assessing a penalty of $102,900 and specifying certain corrective actions to be 
completed by us. We chose not to further contest this matter and paid the penalty on June 5, 2015.

In the Matter of Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC et al. On April 30, 2015, the EPA issued a Finding and Notice of Violation 
(“NOV”) to Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC, our subsidiary, for alleged violations of the Clean Air Act, as amended. The NOV, 
which cites 10 separate rule violations, questions the validity of construction and operating permits issued to our Bakersfield rail 
unloading facility in 2012 and 2014 by the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (the “SJV District”). We believe we fully 
complied with all applicable regulatory requirements and that the permits issued to us by the SJV District are valid. To date, no fines 
or penalties have been assessed in this matter; however, it is possible that fines and penalties could be assessed in the future.

Mesa to Basin Pipeline.  On January 6, 2016, PHMSA issued a Notice of Probable Violation and Proposed Civil Penalty 
relating to an approximate 500 barrel release of crude oil that took place on January 1, 2015 on our Mesa to Basin 12” pipeline in 
Midland, Texas. PHMSA conducted an accident investigation and reviewed documentation related to the incident, and concluded that 
we had committed probable violations of certain pipeline safety regulations. In the Notice, PHMSA maintains that we failed to carry 
out our written damage prevention program and to follow our pipeline excavation/ditching and backfill procedures on four separate 
occasions, and that such failures resulted in outside force damage that led to the January 1, 2015 release.  PHMSA’s compliance 
officer has recommended that we be assessed a civil penalty of $190,000.  We have formally responded to PHMSA regarding this 
matter, but at this point we can provide no assurance regarding the final disposition of this matter or the final amount of any civil 
penalties.

National Energy Board Audit.  In the third quarter of 2014, the National Energy Board (“NEB”) of Canada notified PMC that 
various corrective actions from a 2010 audit had not been completed to the satisfaction of the NEB. The NEB initiated a process to 
assess PMC’s approach to compliance with the NEB’s Onshore Pipeline Regulations, which resulted in the issuance by the NEB of an 
order on January 15, 2015 that imposed six conditions on PMC designed to enhance PMC’s ability to operate its pipelines in a manner 
that protects the public and the environment.  The conditions include the filing of certain safety critical tasks, controls and programs 
with the NEB, external audits of certain PMC programs and systems, and periodic update meetings with NEB staff regarding the 
status and progress of corrective actions.  In early February 2015, the NEB imposed a penalty on PMC of $76,000 CAD related to 
these issues. It is possible that additional fines and penalties may be assessed against PMC in the future related to this matter.
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Kemp River Pipeline Releases. In May and June 2013, two separate releases were discovered on our Kemp River pipeline in 
Northern Alberta, Canada that, in the aggregate, resulted in the release of approximately 700 barrels of condensate and light crude oil.  
Clean-up and remediation activities are being conducted in cooperation with the applicable regulatory agencies. Final investigation by 
the Alberta Energy Regulator is not complete. To date, no charges, fines or penalties have been assessed against PMC with respect to 
these releases; however, it is possible that fines or penalties may be assessed against PMC in the future. We estimate that the aggregate 
clean-up and remediation costs associated with these releases will be $15 million. Through December 31, 2015, we spent $9 million in 
connection with clean-up and remediation activities.

Bay Springs Pipeline Release. In February 2013, we experienced a crude oil release of approximately 120 barrels on a 
portion of one of our pipelines near Bay Springs, Mississippi. Most of the released crude oil was contained within our pipeline right of 
way, but some of the released crude oil entered a nearby waterway where it was contained with booms.  The EPA has issued an 
administrative order requiring us to take various actions in response to the release, including remediation, reporting and other actions. 
We have satisfied the requirements of the administrative order; however, we may be subjected to a civil penalty. The aggregate cost to 
clean up and remediate the site was $6 million.

Environmental Remediation

We currently own or lease, and in the past have owned and leased, properties where hazardous liquids, including 
hydrocarbons, are or have been handled. These properties and the hazardous liquids or associated wastes disposed thereon may be 
subject to CERCLA, RCRA and state and Canadian federal and provincial laws and regulations. Under such laws and regulations, we 
could be required to remove or remediate hazardous liquids or associated wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior 
owners or operators) and to clean up contaminated property (including contaminated groundwater).

We maintain insurance of various types with varying levels of coverage that we consider adequate under the circumstances to 
cover our operations and properties. The insurance policies are subject to deductibles and retention levels that we consider reasonable 
and not excessive. Consistent with insurance coverage generally available in the industry, in certain circumstances our insurance 
policies provide limited coverage for losses or liabilities relating to gradual pollution, with broader coverage for sudden and accidental 
occurrences.

Assets we have acquired or will acquire in the future may have environmental remediation liabilities for which we are not 
indemnified. We have in the past experienced and in the future likely will experience releases of crude oil into the environment from 
our pipeline and storage operations. We also may discover environmental impacts from past releases that were previously 
unidentified.

Insurance

A pipeline, terminal or other facility may experience damage as a result of an accident, natural disaster or terrorist activity. 
These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or 
environmental damage and suspension of operations. We maintain various types of insurance that we consider adequate to cover our 
operations and certain assets. The insurance policies are subject to deductibles or self-insured retentions that we consider reasonable. 
Our insurance does not cover every potential risk associated with operating pipelines, terminals and other facilities, including the 
potential loss of significant revenues.

The occurrence of a significant event not fully insured, indemnified or reserved against, or the failure of a party to meet its 
indemnification obligations, could materially and adversely affect our operations and financial condition. We believe we are 
adequately insured for third-party liability and property damage with respect to our operations. In the future, we may not be able to 
maintain insurance at levels that we consider adequate for rates we consider reasonable. As a result, we may elect to self-insure or 
utilize higher deductibles in certain insurance programs. For example, the market for hurricane- or windstorm-related property damage 
coverage has remained difficult the last few years. The amount of coverage available has been limited, costs have increased 
substantially and deductibles have increased as well.

Our assessment of the current availability of coverage and associated rates for hurricane insurance has led us to the decision 
to self-insure this risk. This decision does not affect our third-party liability insurance, which still covers hurricane-related liability 
claims and which we have maintained at our historic coverage levels. In addition, although we believe that we have established 
adequate reserves to the extent such risks are not insured, costs incurred in excess of these reserves may be higher and may potentially 
have a material adverse effect on our financial conditions, results of operations or cash flows.
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Note 17—Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The sum of the four quarters may not equal the total year due to rounding.

Gross margin is calculated as Total revenues less (i) Purchases and related costs, (ii) Field operating costs and (iii) 
Depreciation and amortization.

Amounts reported in prior periods have been retroactively restated to reflect the impact of our adoption of revised debt 
issuance costs guidance issued by the FASB. See Note 2 for additional information.

Represents cash distributions declared and paid in the period presented.

The distribution paid during the first quarter of 2014 was prorated for the partial quarter following the closing of our IPO on 
October 21, 2013.

Note 18—Operating Segments

We manage our operations through three operating segments: Transportation, Facilities and Supply and Logistics. See 
“Revenue Recognition” in Note 2 for a summary of the types of products and services from which each segment derives its revenues. 
Our Chief Operating Decision Maker (our Chief Executive Officer) evaluates segment performance based on measures including 
segment profit and maintenance capital investment. We define segment profit as revenues and equity earnings in unconsolidated 
entities less (a) purchases and related costs, (b) field operating costs and (c) segment general and administrative expenses. Each of the 
items above excludes depreciation and amortization. Maintenance capital consists of capital expenditures for the replacement of 
partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets.

We look at each period’s earnings before non-cash depreciation and amortization as an important measure of segment 
performance. The exclusion of depreciation and amortization expense could be viewed as limiting the usefulness of segment profit as 
a performance measure because it does not account in current periods for the implied reduction in value of our capital assets, such as 
crude oil pipelines and facilities, caused by age-related decline and wear and tear. We compensate for this limitation by recognizing 
that depreciation and amortization are largely offset by repair and maintenance investments, which act to partially offset the aging and 
wear and tear in the value of our principal fixed assets. These maintenance investments are a component of field operating costs 
included in segment profit or in maintenance capital, depending on the nature of the cost. Capital expenditures made to expand the 
existing operating and/or earnings capacity of our assets are classified as expansion capital. Capital expenditures for the replacement 
of partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets are classified 
as maintenance capital, which is deducted in determining “available cash”. Repair and maintenance expenditures incurred in order to 
maintain the day to day operation of our existing assets are charged to expense as incurred.
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First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total 

(in millions, except per share data)
2015
Total revenues $ 5,942 $ 6,663 $ 5,551 $ 4,996 $ 23,152
Gross margin $ 449 $ 290 $ 394 $ 405 $ 1,539
Operating income $ 370 $ 210 $ 334 $ 343 $ 1,258
Net income $ 262 $ 103 $ 228 $ 216 $ 809
Net income attributable to PAGP $ 31 $ 30 $ 32 $ 25 $ 118
Basic net income per Class A share $ 0.14 $ 0.14 $ 0.14 $ 0.11 $ 0.53
Diluted net income per Class A share $ 0.14 $ 0.14 $ 0.14 $ 0.11 $ 0.53
Cash distributions per Class A share $ 0.20300 $ 0.22200 $ 0.22700 $ 0.23100 $ 0.88300

2014
Total revenues $ 11,684 $ 11,195 $ 11,127 $ 9,459 $ 43,464
Gross margin $ 584 $ 457 $ 484 $ 599 $ 2,122
Operating income $ 494 $ 366 $ 405 $ 529 $ 1,791
Net income $ 372 $ 275 $ 311 $ 370 $ 1,328
Net income attributable to PAGP $ 14 $ 15 $ 16 $ 24 $ 70
Basic net income per Class A share $ 0.11 $ 0.11 $ 0.12 $ 0.14 $ 0.48
Diluted net income per Class A share $ 0.11 $ 0.11 $ 0.12 $ 0.13 $ 0.47
Cash distributions per Class A share $ 0.12505 $ 0.17055 $ 0.18340 $ 0.19075 $ 0.66975

(1)

(2) (3)
(3)

(4)

(2) (3)

(3)

(4) (5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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The following table reflects certain financial data for each segment for the periods indicated (in millions):

Effective January 1, 2014, our natural gas sales and costs, primarily attributable to the activities performed by our natural gas 
storage commercial optimization group, are reported in the Supply and Logistics segment. Such items were previously 
reported in the Facilities segment.

Segment revenues include intersegment amounts that are eliminated in Purchases and related costs and Field operating costs 
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Intersegment sales are conducted at posted tariff rates, rates similar to those 
charged to third parties or rates that we believe approximate market at the time the agreement is executed or renegotiated.
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Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Revenues 

External customers $ 697 $ 528 $ 21,927 $ 23,152
Intersegment 897 522 18 1,437

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 1,594 $ 1,050 $ 21,945 $ 24,589
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 183 $ — $ — $ 183
Segment profit $ 917 $ 579 $ 381 $ 1,877
Capital expenditures $ 1,278 $ 813 $ 184 $ 2,275
Maintenance capital $ 144 $ 68 $ 8 $ 220

As of December 31, 2015
Total assets $ 11,272 $ 7,645 $ 5,225 $ 24,142
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 1,998 $ 29 $ — $ 2,027

Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenues :

External customers $ 774 $ 576 $ 42,114 $ 43,464
Intersegment 881 551 36 1,468

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 1,655 $ 1,127 $ 42,150 $ 44,932
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 108 $ — $ — $ 108
Segment profit $ 925 $ 584 $ 782 $ 2,291
Capital expenditures $ 2,483 $ 582 $ 60 $ 3,125
Maintenance capital $ 165 $ 52 $ 7 $ 224

As of December 31, 2014
Total assets $ 10,441 $ 7,137 $ 6,345 $ 23,923
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 1,735 $ — $ — $ 1,735

Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Revenues:

External Customers $ 701 $ 856 $ 40,692 $ 42,249
Intersegment 797 521 4 1,322

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 1,498 $ 1,377 $ 40,696 $ 43,571
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 64 $ — $ — $ 64
Segment profit $ 729 $ 616 $ 822 $ 2,167
Capital expenditures $ 1,046 $ 549 $ 46 $ 1,641
Maintenance capital $ 123 $ 38 $ 15 $ 176

As of December 31, 2013
Total assets $ 7,726 $ 6,741 $ 6,944 $ 21,411
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 485 $ — $ — $ 485

(1):

(2)

(3) (4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3) (4)

(5)

(2)

(3) (4)

(5)

(1)

(2)
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Supply and Logistics segment profit includes interest expense (related to hedged inventory purchases) of $6 million, 
$12 million and $30 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The following table reconciles segment profit to net income attributable to PAGP (in millions):

Expenditures for acquisition capital and expansion capital, including investments in unconsolidated entities.

Geographic Data

We have operations in the United States and Canada. Set forth below are revenues and long-lived assets attributable to these 
geographic areas (in millions):

Revenues are primarily attributed to each region based on where the services are provided or the product is shipped.

Excludes long-term derivative assets and long-term deferred tax assets.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Segment profit $ 1,877 $ 2,291 $ 2,167
Unallocated general and administrative expenses (3) (6) (1)
Depreciation and amortization (433) (386) (368)
Interest expense, net (443) (357) (319)
Other income/(expense), net (7) (2) 1
Income before tax 991 1,540 1,480
Income tax expense (182) (212) (106)
Net income 809 1,328 1,374

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (691) (1,258) (1,359)
Net income attributable to PAGP $ 118 $ 70 $ 15

Year Ended December 31,
Revenues 2015 2014 2013
United States $ 18,701 $ 34,860 $ 32,924
Canada 4,451 8,604 9,325

$ 23,152 $ 43,464 $ 42,249

December 31,
Long-Lived Assets 2015 2014
United States $ 15,958 $ 14,360
Canada 3,368 3,650

$ 19,326 $ 18,010

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1 — Share Purchase Agreement dated December 1, 2011 by and among Amoco Canada International Holdings 
B.V. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC (the schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601
(b)(2) of Regulation S-K) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2011).

2.2 — Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 21, 2013, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, 
L.P., PAA Acquisition Company LLC, PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. and PNGS GP LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 24, 2013).

3.1 — Certificate of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-190227) filed July 29, 2013).

3.2 — Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. dated as of 
October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 25, 2013).

3.3 — Certificate of Formation of PAA GP Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-190227) filed July 29, 2013).

3.4 — Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP Holdings LLC dated as of 
October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 25, 2013).

3.5 — Amendment No. 1 dated as of December 31, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement of PAA GP Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed December 31, 2013).

3.6 — Fifth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. dated 
as of January 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
February 2, 2016).

3.7 — Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC dated 
October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 25, 2013).

3.8 — Amendment No. 1 dated January 28, 2016 to the Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to PAA’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed February 2, 2016).

3.9 — Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. dated October 21, 2013 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

3.10 — Amendment No. 1 dated December 31, 2013 to the Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Partnership 
Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed December 31, 2013).

3.11 — Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP LLC dated December 28, 2007 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

4.1 — Indenture dated September 25, 2002 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and 
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002).

4.2 — Fourth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 5.875% Senior Notes due 2016) dated August 12, 
2004 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named 
therein and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to 
PAA’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-121168).
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4.3 — Sixth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.70% Senior Notes due 2036) dated May 12, 2006 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein 
and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 12, 2006).

4.4 — Ninth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.125% Senior Notes due 2017) dated October 30, 
2006 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named 
therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 30, 2006).

4.5 — Tenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.650% Senior Notes due 2037) dated October 30, 
2006 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named 
therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 30, 2006).

4.6 — Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018) dated April 23, 
2008 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named 
therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 23, 2008).

4.7 — Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture (8.75% Senior Notes due 2019) dated April 20, 2009 among Plains All 
American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed April 20, 2009).

4.8 — Seventeenth Supplemental Indenture (5.75% Senior Notes due 2020) dated September 4, 2009 among Plains 
All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed September 4, 2009).

4.9 — Nineteenth Supplemental Indenture (5.00% Senior Notes due 2021) dated January 14, 2011 among Plains 
All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed January 11, 2011).

4.10 — Twentieth Supplemental Indenture (3.65% Senior Notes due 2022) dated March 22, 2012 among Plains All 
American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).

4.11 — Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture (5.15% Senior Notes due 2042) dated March 22, 2012 among Plains 
All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).

4.12 — Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture (2.85% Senior Notes due 2023) dated December 10, 2012, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 
2012).

4.13 — Twenty-Third Supplemental Indenture (4.30% Senior Notes due 2043) dated December 10, 2012, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 
2012).

4.14 — Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture (3.85% Senior Notes due 2023) dated August 15, 2013, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 15, 
2013).

4.15 — Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture (4.70% Senior Notes due 2044) dated April 23, 2014, by and among 
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2014).
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4.16 — Twenty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture (3.60% Senior Notes due 2024) dated September 9, 2014, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 11, 
2014).

4.17 — Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture (2.60% Senior Notes due 2019) dated December 9, 2014, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 11, 
2014).

4.18 — Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture (4.90% Senior Notes due 2045) dated December 9, 2014, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 11, 
2014).

4.19 — Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture (4.65% Senior Notes due 2025) dated August 24, 2015, by and 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 26, 
2015).

4.20 — Shareholder and Registration Rights Agreement dated October 21, 2013 by and among Plains GP Holdings, 
L.P. and the other parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.1 — Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 2011 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as Borrower; 
certain subsidiaries of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. from time to time party thereto, as Designated 
Borrowers; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; and the other Lenders party thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2011).

10.2 — First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of June 27, 2012, among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. 
and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing 
Line Lender and L/C Issuer; Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as an L/C Issuer; and the other 
Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
July 3, 2012).

10.3 — Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of August 16, 2013, among Plains All American Pipeline, 
L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, 
Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as an L/C Issuer; and the other 
Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
August 20, 2013).

10.4 — Contribution, Assignment and Amendment Agreement dated as of June 27, 2001, among Plains All 
American Pipeline, L.P., Plains Marketing, L.P., All American Pipeline, L.P., Plains AAP, L.P., Plains All 
American GP LLC and Plains Marketing GP Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 27, 2001).

10.5 — Contribution, Assignment and Amendment Agreement dated as of June 8, 2001, among Plains All 
American Inc., Plains AAP, L.P. and Plains All American GP LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 11, 2001).

10.6 — Separation Agreement dated as of June 8, 2001 among Plains Resources Inc., Plains All American Inc., 
Plains All American GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P. and Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 11, 2001).

10.7 — Pension and Employee Benefits Assumption and Transition Agreement dated as of June 8, 2001 among 
Plains Resources Inc., Plains All American Inc. and Plains All American GP LLC (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.3 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 11, 2001).

10.8 — Plains All American GP LLC 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 26, 2005).
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10.9 — Plains All American GP LLC 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to 
Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-74920) as amended June 27, 2003 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003).

10.10 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. 
Armstrong dated as of June 30, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

10.11 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Harry N. Pefanis 
dated as of June 30, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PAA’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

10.12 — Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated February 28, 2001 between Murphy Oil Company Ltd. and Plains 
Marketing Canada, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed May 10, 2001).

10.13 — Transportation Agreement dated July 30, 1993, between All American Pipeline Company and Exxon 
Company, U.S.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to PAA’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 
filed September 23, 1998, File No. 333-64107).

10.14 — Transportation Agreement dated August 2, 1993, among All American Pipeline Company, Texaco Trading 
and Transportation Inc., Chevron U.S.A. and Sun Operating Limited Partnership (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.10 to PAA’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed September 23, 1998, File No. 333-
64107).

10.15 — Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and 
certain other parties dated as of November 23, 1998. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to PAA’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.16 — First Amendment to Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement dated as of December 15, 1998 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 1998).

10.17 — Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membership Interest in Scurlock Permian LLC between Marathon 
Ashland LLC and Plains Marketing, L.P. dated as of March 17, 1999 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.16 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

10.18 — PMC (Nova Scotia) Company Bonus Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to PAA’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004).

10.19 — Quarterly Bonus Program Summary (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to PAA’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005).

10.20 — Form of LTIP Grant Letter (independent directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 23, 2005).

10.21 — Form of LTIP Grant Letter (designated directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 23, 2005).

10.22 — Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and between Sempra Energy Trading Corporation and 
PAA/Vulcan Gas Storage, LLC dated August 19, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 19, 2005).

10.23 — Waiver Agreement dated as of December 23, 2010 between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. 
Armstrong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2010).

10.24 — Waiver Agreement dated as of December 23, 2010 between Plains All American GP LLC and Harry N. 
Pefanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2010).
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10.25 — Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and John P. vonBerg dated December 18, 
2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2005).

10.26 — Form of LTIP Grant Letter (audit committee members) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 23, 2006).

10.27 — Plains All American PPX Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 
to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

10.28 — Form of Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

10.29 — Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 2011 by and among Plains 
Marketing, L.P., as Borrower, Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as Guarantor, Bank of America, N.A., as 
Administrative Agent, and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2011).

10.30 — First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 27, 2012, among 
Plains Marketing, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Plains All American Pipeline, 
L.P., as Guarantor; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; 
and the other Lenders and L/C Issuers party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 3, 2012).

10.31 — Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 16, 2013, among 
Plains Marketing, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Plains All American Pipeline, 
L.P., as Guarantor; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as an L/C Issuer; and the other Lenders and L/C Issuers party 
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 20, 
2013).

10.32 — Contribution and Assumption Agreement dated December 28, 2007, by and between Plains AAP, L.P. and 
PAA GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
January 4, 2008).

10.33 — First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2008 between 
Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to PAA’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.34 — First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2008 between 
Plains All American GP LLC and Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to PAA’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.35 — First Amendment to Plains All American GP LLC 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated December 4, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008).

10.36 — Second Amendment to Plains All American GP LLC 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated December 4, 
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008).

10.37 — Form of Amendment to LTIP grant letters (executive officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to 
PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.38 — Form of Amendment to LTIP grant letters (directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to PAA’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.39 — Contribution Agreement dated as of April 29, 2010 by and among PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P., PNGS 
GP LLC, Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Natural Gas Storage, LLC, PAA/Vulcan Gas Storage, 
LLC, Plains Marketing, L.P. and Plains Marketing GP Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
PNG’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 4, 2010).
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10.40 — Omnibus Agreement dated May 5, 2010 by and among Plains All American GP LLC, Plains All American 
Pipeline, L.P., PNGS GP LLC and PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to PNG’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2010).

10.41 — Form of 2010 LTIP Grant Letters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to PAA’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

10.42 — Director Compensation Summary (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to PAA’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011).

10.43 — Form of PAA LTIP Grant Letter for Officers (February 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
PAA’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013).

10.44 — Administrative Agreement dated October 21, 2013, by and among Plains GP Holdings, L.P., PAA GP 
Holdings LLC, Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P. and Plains All 
American GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 25, 2013).

10.45 — Contribution Agreement dated October 21, 2013, by and among Plains GP Holdings, L.P., PAA GP 
Holdings LLC and the other parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.46 — Plains GP Holdings, L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.47 — Waiver Agreement dated October 21, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated 
June 30, 2001 of Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.48 — Waiver Agreement dated October 21, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated 
June 30, 2001 of Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.49 — Form of Amendment to the Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement, dated October 18, 2013 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.50 — Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among Plains AAP, L.P., as Borrower, Citibank, N.A. as 
Administrative Agent, and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-1A (333-190227) filed October 2, 2013).

10.51 — First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 14, 2015 among 
Plains AAP, L.P., as Borrower, Citibank, N.A. as Administrative Agent, and the other Lenders party thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 14, 2015).

10.52 — Plains All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to PAA’s 
Definitive Proxy Statement filed on October 3, 2013).

10.53 — Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to 
PAA’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (333-19319) filed December 31, 2013).

10.54 — PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
PNG’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2010).

10.55 — 364-Day Credit Agreement dated January 16, 2015 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as Borrower; 
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Co-Syndication Agents; DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch and 
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents; the other Lenders party thereto; and Merrill Lynch, 
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., DNB Markets, Inc., J.P. Morgan 
Securities LLC, Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint 
Bookrunners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 20, 
2015).
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Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Certain confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an Application for Confidential Treatment under 
Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange Act. This exhibit, with the omitted language, has been filed separately with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.

             Management compensatory plan or arrangement.

10.56 — First Amendment to 364-Day Credit Agreement dated August 14, 2015 among Plains All American Pipeline, 
L.P., as Borrower; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank 
N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Co-Syndication Agents; DNB Bank ASA, New York 
Branch and Mizuho Bank, Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents; the other Lenders party thereto; and Merrill 
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., DNB Markets, Inc., J.P. 
Morgan Securities LLC, Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and 
Joint Bookrunners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
August 14, 2015).

10.57 — Form of LTIP Grant Letter (PAGP Audit Committee Members) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014).

10.58 — Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Willie Chiang dated July 10, 2015 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to PAA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 25, 2016).

12.1 — Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

21.1 — List of Subsidiaries of Plains GP Holdings, L.P.

23.1 — Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31.1 — Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).

31.2 — Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).

32.1 — Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

32.2 — Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

101. INS — XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 12.1

STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(in millions, except ratio data)

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, “earnings” consists of pre-tax income from continuing 
operations before income from equity investees plus fixed charges (excluding capitalized interest), distributed income of 
equity investees and amortization of capitalized interest. “Fixed charges” represents interest incurred (whether expensed or 
capitalized), amortization of debt expense (including discounts and premiums relating to indebtedness) and the portion of 
rental expense on leases deemed to be the equivalent of interest.

Includes interest costs attributable to borrowings for hedged inventory purchases of $6 million, $12 million, $30 million, $12 
million and $20 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Ratios may not recalculate due to rounding.

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

EARNINGS
Pre-tax income from continuing operations before 

noncontrolling interests and income from equity 
investees $ 808 $ 1,432 $ 1,416 $ 1,135 $ 1,019

add: Fixed charges 559 466 430 387 334
add: Distributed income of equity investees 214 105 55 40 23
add: Amortization of capitalized interest 6 4 3 2 2
less: Capitalized interest (57) (48) (38) (36) (25)

Total Earnings $ 1,530 $ 1,959 $ 1,866 $ 1,528 $ 1,353

FIXED CHARGES
Interest expensed and capitalized $ 506 $ 419 $ 387 $ 353 $ 314
Portion of rent expense related to interest (33.33%) 53 47 43 34 20

Total Fixed Charges $ 559 $ 466 $ 430 $ 387 $ 334

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 2.74x 4.19x 4.34x 3.95x 4.05x

(1)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF
PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P.

(As of 12/31/2015)

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
5D Marketing LLC Colorado
Aurora Pipeline Company Ltd Canada
Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
BGS Kimball Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Bluewater Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Bluewater Natural Gas Holding, LLC Delaware
Eagle Ford Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
Hawks Oil LLC Colorado
Lone Star Trucking, LLC California
Mountain Ridge Resources LLC Colorado
Niobrara Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
PAA Finance Corp. Delaware
PAA GP LLC Delaware
PAA Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
PAA Midstream LLC Delaware
PAA Natural Gas Canada ULC Alberta
PAA Natural Gas Storage LLC Delaware
PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. Delaware
PAA/Vulcan Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Pacific Energy Group LLC Delaware
Pacific L.A. Marine Terminal LLC Delaware
Pacific Pipeline System LLC Delaware
PACONO1, LLC Delaware
PACONO3 LLC Delaware
PICSCO LLC Delaware
Pine Prairie Energy Center, LLC Delaware
Plains AAP, L.P. Delaware
Plains All American Emergency Relief Fund, Inc. Texas
Plains All American GP LLC Delaware
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. Delaware
Plains Capline LLC Delaware
Plains Gas Solutions, LLC Texas
Plains GP LLC Texas
Plains LPG Services GP LLC Delaware
Plains LPG Services, L.P. Texas
Plains Marketing Bondholder LLC Delaware
Plains Marketing Canada LLC Delaware
Plains Marketing GP Inc. Texas
Plains Marketing, L.P. Texas
Plains Midstream Canada ULC British Columbia
Plains Midstream Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Plains Midstream Superior LLC Texas
Plains Mobile Pipeline Inc. Alabama
Plains Pipeline, L.P. Texas
Plains Products Terminals LLC Delaware



Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
Plains Rail Holdings LLC Delaware
Plains South Texas Gathering LLC Texas
Plains Southcap Inc. Delaware
Plains Terminals North Dakota LLC Delaware
Plains Towing LLC Delaware
Plains West Coast Terminals LLC Delaware
PMC (Nova Scotia) Company Nova Scotia
PMDSE, Inc. Mississippi
PNG Marketing, LLC Delaware
PNGS GP LLC Delaware
PPEC Bondholder, LLC Delaware
Rancho LPG Holdings LLC Delaware
Rocky Mountain Pipeline System LLC Delaware
SG Resources Mississippi, L.L.C. Delaware
SLC Pipeline LLC Delaware
Southcap Pipe Line Company Delaware
St. James Rail Terminal LLC Delaware
Sunrise Pipeline LLC Delaware
Van Hook Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
VirKel Backhoe Services LLLP Colorado



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-193141) and on Form S-3 
(No. 333-200596) of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. of our report dated February 25, 2016 relating to the financial statements and the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
February 25, 2016



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Greg L. Armstrong, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (the “registrant”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based 
on such evaluation; and

(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)           All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

(b)           Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2016

/s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Greg L. Armstrong
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Al Swanson, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (the “registrant”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based 
on such evaluation; and

(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)           All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

(b)           Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2016

/s/ Al Swanson
Al Swanson
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OF PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, Greg L. Armstrong, Chief Executive Officer of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (the “Company”), hereby certify that:

(i)            the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 and filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) by the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15
(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)           the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

/s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Name: Greg L. Armstrong
Date: February 25, 2016



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

OF PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, Al Swanson, Chief Financial Officer of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (the “Company”), hereby certify that:

(i)            the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 and filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) by the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15
(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)           the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

/s/ Al Swanson
Name: Al Swanson
Date: February 25, 2016
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